

Fact-Insensitiveness and Electoral Alignment Across WEIRD Societies

Mandujano Manriquez, Mauricio

Citation

Mandujano Manriquez, M. (2022). *Fact-Insensitiveness and Electoral Alignment Across WEIRD Societies*.

Version:	Not Applicable (or Unknown)
License:	License to inclusion and publication of a Bachelor or Master thesis in the Leiden University Student Repository
Downloaded from:	https://hdl.handle.net/1887/3674518

Note: To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).

Fact-Insensitiveness and Electoral Alignment Across WEIRD Societies



Mauricio Mandujano Manriquez

Master Thesis

Faculty of Humanities

Leiden Univeristy

Fall 2022

Email Address: s3290581@vuw.leidenuniv.nl Supervisor: Dr. Dennie M. Oude Nijhuis Programme of Study: European Politics and Society – Vaclav Havel Joint Master Date of Submission: 3rd August 2022 Word Count: 17,268

Contents

Tables	4
Figures	4
Abbreviations	5
Acknowledgments	7
Chapter 1 Introduction	
Chapter 2 Literature Review	
2.1 The Value of the Median Voter Mandate	
2.1.1 Debating Democratic Theory	13
2.1.2 The Case for the Alignment Approach	16
2.1.3 Why Not Use Instrumental Values?	20
2.2 Elections as Instruments of Democracy	25
2.2.1 Majoritarian, Proportional, and Mixed Electoral Systems	25
2.2.2 Misalignment Mechanisms	25
2.3. Crisis of Liberal Democracies	27
2.3.1 Internal Challenges to Liberal Democracies	27
2.3.2 Importance of Factfulness	
2.4. The Case for WEIRD Political Science	
2.4.1 The State of Research in Comparative Politics	
2.4.2 Coevolved WEIRD Psychology	
2.4.3 Bounding the Applicable Universe	
2.5 Conclusion and the Way Forward	
Chapter 3 Research Design	
3.1 Hypotheses	
3.2 Datasets and Usage	
3.3 Units of Analysis: Standardization of Territorial Units	
3.4 Measurement of Variables	44
3.4.1 Misalignment	44
3.4.2 Fact-Insensitiveness	46
3.5 Sample Size N=2722	46
3.6 Methodology	49
Chapter 4 Analysis	
4.1 Initial Patterns	

4.2 Regression Analysis at Different Units of Analysis	54
Chapter 5 Conclusion	64
References	66
Annex	75
Constituency Level	75
Upper 1 Level	76
Upper 2 Level	76
State 1 Level	77

Tables

TABLE 1 UNITS OF ANALYSIS BY COUNTRY	43
TABLE 2 STUDIED COUNTRIES AND PERIODS	44
TABLE 3 RELEVANCE OF FACTFULNESS CONSTITUENCY LEVEL	
TABLE 4 RELEVANCE OF FACTFULNESS UPPER 1 LEVEL	
TABLE 5 RELEVANCE OF FACTFULNESS UPPER 2 LEVEL	60
TABLE 6 RELEVANCE OF FACTFULNESS STATE	

Figures

FIGURE 1 TWO TYPES OF MISALIGNMENT MECHANISMS (FROM STEPHANOPOULOS 2014)	17
FIGURE 2 CONGRUENCE OF ENTIRE DISTRIBUTIONS (AUTHOR)	
FIGURE 3 RIGHT AND LEFT SKEWED DISTRIBUTIONS (AUTHOR)	19
FIGURE 4 ADDITIONAL MECHANISMS OF MISALIGNMENT (AUTHOR)	
FIGURE 5 MAP OF BOROUGH OF BOLTON BY CONSTITUENCIES	41
FIGURE 6 MAP OF MARYLAND'S 3RD CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICT	41
FIGURE 7 TILBURG AND UTRECHT WITH MUNICIPALITIES	42
FIGURE 8 CARINTHIA ELECTORAL DISTRICTS	42
FIGURE 9 DUTCH PARENT REGIONS	43
FIGURE 10 FRENCH DEPARTMENTS	43
FIGURE 11 VARIABLES DISTANCE OF ELECTORAL DEMOCRACIES	
FIGURE 12 PROPENSITY SCORES OF ELECTORAL DEMOCRACIES	48
FIGURE 13 STUDIED COUNTRIES	49
FIGURE 14 LOGISTIC REGRESSION MODEL	49
FIGURE 15 DISTRIBUTION OF MISALIGNED SEATS BY COUNTRY	51
FIGURE 16 DEGREE OF LOWER HOUSE MISALIGNMENT BY COUNTRY	
FIGURE 17 MISALIGNED SEATS BY PARTISAN AFFILIATION BY ELECTORAL SYSTEMS	53
FIGURE 18 CONSTITUENCY LEVEL FACT-INSENSITIVENESS	55
FIGURE 19 CONSTITUENCY LEVEL FACT-INSENSITIVENESS AND ALIGNMENT DISTRIBUTION	55
FIGURE 20 UPPER 1 LEVEL FACT-INSENSITIVENESS	57
FIGURE 21 UPPER 1 LEVEL FACT-INSENSITIVENESS AND ALIGNMENT DISTRIBUTION	57
FIGURE 22 UPPER 2 LEVEL FACT-INSENSITIVENESS	59
FIGURE 23 UPPER 2 LEVEL FACT-INSENSITIVENESS AND ALIGNMENT DISTRIBUTION	59
FIGURE 24 STATE LEVEL FACT-INSENSITIVENESS	61
FIGURE 25 STATE LEVEL FACT-INSENSITIVENESS AND ALIGNMENT DISTRIBUTION	61

Abbreviations

SMD	Single Member District (Majoritarian)
PR	Proportional Representation System
RILE Index	Left Right Ideology Score
WEIRD	Western Educated Industrialized Rich and Democratic
CLEA	Constituency-Level Elections Archive

Disclaimer

I, the undersigned [Mauricio Mandujano Manriquez], candidate for the Erasmus Mundus Joint master's degree in European Politics and Society, declare herewith that the present thesis is exclusively my own work, based on my research, and only such external information as properly credited in notes and bibliography. I declare that no unidentified and illegitimate use was made of works of others, and no part of the thesis infringes on any person's or institution's copyright. I also declare that no part of this thesis has been submitted in this form to any other institution of higher education for an academic degree.

Mount eller

Mauricio Mandujano Manriquez

Acknowledgments

When I began my studies back in 2020, I knew that moving across three countries would be both challenging and exciting. The onset of the COVID-19 pandemic joined with the ever-changing travel restrictions made it even more daunting. Yet, at least, or so I thought, I would get to experience first-hand the political and social realities of three different European countries and societies; at most, I would be part of a transnational research community. And fortunately for me, both of these expectations were exceeded, and even if inadvertently, the political and social realities of the day have shaped my research interests for good. But I could not have done this alone.

First of all, a huge thank you to my supervisor, Dennie Oude Nijhuis. His thoughtful, pragmatic, and concise advice guided me through this journey. But more than anything, I truly appreciate him for trusting me during this process. Also, a huge thanks to Maxine David, Javier Arregui, and Tom Theuns, who motivated me to continue pursuing my academic aspirations with their thoughtful advice and recommendations, whether via email or in person. Also, much thanks and caring to Esther, Nik, and Yulia, for always being there to proofread my drafts with unmatched speed and surgical precision.

As for institutional actors, I am very grateful to have made Leiden University my academic home for the past year. The time I have spent within its beautiful buildings and libraries was crucial for making studying a fantastic experience. Thanks too, to the European Commission and the EPS Committee for providing the necessary funding for me to complete my studies, without them, I doubt this would have been possible.

Last, but definitely not least, I want to thank my family for their unconditional support throughout my scholarly years. Thank you Mom for always asking me how things are going and making sure I am taking proper breaks. Thank you, Mishel for those random calls that distracted me away from the typical Dutch weather patterns and for always keeping in touch. And thank you, Liz, for being such a great sister and always working hard. Thank you Dad, wherever you might be you are always with me.

WEIRD Societies

Chapter 1 Introduction

"The chief mechanism for ensuring a reliable link between the deliberations of representatives and the interests and desires of the represented is the electoral connection." Joseph M. Bessette — 1994

Over the last two decades, there has been a burgeoning effort in empirical democratic research to identify the structural constraints hindering the functioning of liberal democracies. Of particular significance have been the debates trying to reconcile the normative case for democracy with the disillusionment found across real-world democratic societies (Foa and Yascha 2017; Ercan and Gagnon 2014). On the normative side, scholarly debates have centered around the structural values necessary for accomplishing the ends of democracy, including but not limited to participation, competition, responsiveness, and representativeness (Ansolabehere, Snyder, and Stewart 2001b; Bafumi and Herron 2010; Elmendorf 2008; Gelman and King 1994; Karlan 1992; Lijphart 2012; Powell 2004; 2000; Urbinati and Warren 2008). However, underpinning these instrumental values resides a core concern for democracy: that voters' preferences ought to be congruent with those of their elected representatives. This is often referred to as the alignment approach (Bessette 1994, 286; Pitkin 1967, 239; Stephanopoulos 2014).¹

The alignment approach follows the view that elections are instruments of democracy where constituents' preferences must be congruent with the people, who are ultimately the sovereign, and confer legitimacy through a normatively significant electorate embodied in the median voter (Stephanopoulos 2014; M. D. McDonald, Mendes, and Budge 2004). Adjacent to this literature, research on electoral systems has brought about a debate about the susceptibility to misalignment mechanisms between majoritarian (SMD), proportional representation (PR), and mixed systems (Blais and Bodet 2006; Stephanopoulos 2014). Usually, majoritarian systems are characterized as more susceptible to misalignment due to their sensitivity to franchise restriction, party regulation, campaign finance, redistricting, and minority representation (Stephanopoulos

¹ Alignment, as conceptualized here, is distinctive from "political realignment" which refers to voters changing their political alliance due to changing circumstances (or also known as critical realignment, or realigning election).

2014; M. P. McDonald 2007; Guest, Kanayet, and Love 2019). However, albeit to a lesser degree, PR systems are also vulnerable to misalignment mechanisms, mainly due to electoral thresholds, seat allocation formulas, or apportionment (van Eck, Visagie, and de Kock 2005; Schuster et al. 2003; Akartunalı and Knight 2016; Hales and García 2019; Pierzgalski 2018).² In the case of mixed systems, the same mechanisms do not readily apply jointly. Instead, it is the interaction of contamination effects that causes misalignment (Ferrera 2018, 5; Bafumi and Herron 2010).³

More recently, there has also been increasing scholarly attention to internal challenges to liberal democracies across the West due to democratic backsliding, public distrusts of institutions, autocratization, and the spread of fake news and misinformation (Butzlaff and Messinger-Zimmer 2020; Farkas and Schou 2019; Lührmann and Lindberg 2019; Mudde 2016; Watts, Rothschild, and Mobius 2021). Within this literature, the spread of misinformation has gained unprecedented prominence during election cycles and the COVID-19 pandemic. In the academic literature, the spread of misinformation or fake news is perceived as incompatible with liberal democracies (Speed and Mannion 2017; Steiner 2012). Thus, a seldom explored aspect resides at the intersection of the alignment approach on the one hand, and fact-insensitiveness on the other, across electoral systems.

First, taking democracy's core meaning seriously implies assessing the extent to which preferences of the normative significant electorate align with the preferences of their elected representatives. Following the alignment approach core tenant, will ensure that the preferences of the median voter will be realized. Second, growing concerns about the spread of misinformation and fake news across liberal democracies is an insidious threat that will continue to affect all democratic politics. In turn, measuring people's fact-insensitiveness, people's lack of sensitivity to facts becomes of uttermost importance. In turn, recognizing whether there are inherent structural differences across SDM, PR, and mixed electoral systems in terms of degrees of fact-insensitiveness for electoral alignment becomes empirically and normatively significant.

 $^{^2}$ In the literature these vulnerabilities are not always characterized as 'misalignment mechanisms', but within a broader scope of electoral congruence, bias, or distortion effects. However, these problems are still relevant for the median voter mandate because they affect the electoral outcomes which can then be agnostically assessed through the alignment approach.

³ These discussions have been complemented by an extensive corpus of empirical research assessing voters, representatives, and policy congruence; yet these studies tend to be overly focused on American politics. See for, instance Blais and Bodet 2006; Golder and Stramski 2010; Ansolabehere, Snyder, and Stewart 2001.

Moreover, external to these developments in political theory and political science, findings in human evolutionary psychology have unveiled the existence of substantial psychological variation around the globe with distinctive peculiarity for populations that are Western, Educated, Industrialized, Rich, and Democratic (WEIRD) (Henrich 2020; Henrich, Heine, and Norenzayan 2010a; J. Schulz et al. 2018). A distinct set of co-evolved institutions exacts further considerations for comparative political studies that can hold relevant variables constant.

In this same spirit, this thesis aims to discern the effects of fact-insensitiveness on electoral alignment across majoritarian, proportional, and mixed electoral systems in WEIRD societies. Taking this into consideration, this thesis puts forward the following research question,

How does fact-insensitiveness affect electoral alignment across majoritarian (SMD), proportional representation (PR), and mixed electoral systems in WEIRD Societies?

As anticipated in the previous paragraphs, the central claim that justifies this research stems from the existing gap in the comparative politics literature linking the alignment approach and the rising spread of misinformation, conceptualized as fact-insensitiveness. Additionally, three other factors play a significant role in carrying out this specific research project. Firstly, although there are comprehensive datasets on electoral systems and other country-relevant variables for democracy studies, such as Varieties of Democracy (V-Dem), or The Electoral Knowledge Network (ACE), they lack the instrumental variables necessary to measure fact-insensitiveness or electoral alignment. Additionally, these datasets are agnostic to recent scholarship, pointing to the existence of psychological differences across populations derived from their distinct historical trajectories.

Secondly, the exceptional nature of the COVID-19 pandemic presents a rare opportunity to assess fact-insensitiveness through proxies of high fidelity that correspond to individual decision-making. Instead of deploying surveys or experimental designs, the nature of the pandemic has left every individual with the individual capacity to make a personal choice around a specific topic: vaccinations and COVID-19 restrictions.

Thirdly, the empirical findings derived from this research will inform normative considerations about the legitimacy of electoral systems under the alignment approach. It will

determine whether majoritarian, proportional, or mixed electoral systems are more resilient to fact insensitivity.

This thesis is structured as follows: first, I examine the existing literature, to frame the theoretical and conceptual academic debates that lie at the heart of the research question and identify the specific gaps underpinning this piece of research. Second, I present the research design and methodology of this thesis which operationalizes aspects presented in the literature review. Third, this is followed by an empirical analysis chapter where the hypotheses will be tested. Subsequently, in the same chapter, I engage with the results of the analysis to answer the research question at hand and further discuss the contributions of this thesis to the current scholarship. A conclusion will thereupon follow.

WEIRD Societies

Chapter 2 Literature Review

The literature review chapter presents the theoretical and conceptual academic debates that lie at the heart of the research question. Moreover, considering that the research project itself lies at the intersection of multiple fields of study, this section also takes on the task of explaining the individual state of the literature of each respective field. This consists of four main sections. First, I present the normative case for the median voter mandate and the alignment approach within the broader scope of democratic theory. Second, following the alignment approach, I explore the tradeoffs between majoritarian, proportional, and mixed electoral systems. Third, I outline the internal challenges for liberal democracies expounding on how fake news and misinformation are of chief normative significance among them. Fourth, and last, I make the case for accounting for cultural and psychological variation when doing political science research to bound the external and internal validity of claims. It is worth noting that this is not an exhaustive review of these fields, but rather an outline that sets the stage for the research question itself.

2.1 The Value of the Median Voter Mandate

Among democratic theorists and political scientists alike, there is widespread consensus on the inherent need for a connection between the electorate and the elected representatives in government. This nontrivial platitude is often reinvigorated through Lincoln's famous line from the Gettysburg address "government of the people, by the people, for the people, shall not perish from the earth" (Lincoln 1863). However, this normative prescription does not provide a definite method for how to ensure that people's preferences correspond to whom becomes their elected representatives. Analogous to this vacuum, democratic theorists have, over the last decades, flesh out competing normative visions of democracy that grant centrality to different aspects of the democratic process (Urbinati 2019; Boese, Lindberg, and Lührmann 2021; R. Berins. Collier 1999). Among these competing visions stands out the alignment approach as devised by Nicholas Stephanopoulos (2014, 299).

Under the alignment approach, it is of particular significance that the preferences of the median voter align to those of the median representative, rather than putting emphasis on

deliberation or proceduralism (Stephanopoulos 2014; Urbinati 2019). The significance of the median voter stems from its position along a unidimensional distribution of ideological preferences, whereby by definition, she speaks for a majority of all voters (Stephanopoulos 2014, 299). All other non-median groups do not have a comparable normative claim so that their preferences should be shared by their representatives. The normative significance of the median voter is what animates the measurement of alignment across constituencies. Yet, this view does not exist in a vacuum, thus, the following sections buttress the normative and operational significance of the alignment approach against competing visions of democracy. First, I expound on where the alignment is situated within democratic theory. Second, I make the case for using the alignment approach, rather than congruence or responsiveness, due to its normative significance. Third, I present the limits of instrumental values as alternatives for assessing democratic performance.

2.1.1 Debating Democratic Theory

Within democratic theory, there is a prevalent and long-standing debate about what democracy is and what it should look like (D. Collier, Daniel Hidalgo, and Olivia Maciuceanu 2006; Ercan and Gagnon 2014; Urbinati and Warren 2008). If anything, the current wave of autocratization, as conceptualized by Luhrmann and Lindberg 2019, has reinvigorated a debate about what the study of democracy (or autocracy) should look like (Lührmann and Lindberg 2019; Boese, Lindberg, and Lührmann 2021; ECPR 2022). In this section, I thus enumerate six of the most prominent propositions of democratic theory to better situate the alignment approach within the broader discussion. It is worth noting that this is not an exhaustive review, but rather limited in scope, for which I might gloss over substantive theoretical differences between specific authors or time periods. Yet the commonalities existing across these conceptualizations of democracy render sufficient importance to present them in this fashion.

The first distinctive democratic tradition is the *Madisonian* theory (Hamilton, Madison, and Jay 1961; Stephanopoulos 2014). Since its conception, at the dawn of the American Revolution, it was the bedrock of American Constitutionalism. It was then believed that "the House of Representatives, though not necessarily other politicians, [should] share the views and values of their constituents' (Stephanopoulos 2014, 314). This view contrasted with those coming from emerging European Democracies that had less focus on the people or favored the role of the

parliament. In *The Federalist Papers* Hamilton, advocated for lowering from seven to two years the election periods for members of the House of Representatives; this was in order to increase the binding power between "the representatives to their constituencies," to give more power to the people (Hamilton, Madison, and Jay 1961).⁴ Similarly, Hamilton criticized the overarching power that the crown had over the Irish parliament to determine the subjects of their deliberation (Hamilton, Madison, and Jay 1961, 365). In turn, arguing for Madisonian theory entailed a "link of some sort was thus posited or presupposed between the preferences of the people and the decisions of their representatives" (Manin 1997, 162–63).

Another dominant strand of the democratic debate was the *principal* theory of democracy (Pitkin 1967). In this view, people delegate their power to their representatives, who ought to act as principals of the sovereign power of the people, with the majority of their constituents in mind. This implies two base assumptions about representation. First is that the majority always determines the outcome of government legislation, as representatives follow a quasi-transactional role in government. In the words of famed scholar Hanna Pitkin, "a delegate, must act as if the principal" and "must vote as a majority of his constituents would" (Pitkin 1967, 234). Second, there is no room for conscientious objection, which renders the representative's autonomy nonexistent. Herein, elections and the electoral machinery are necessary for public interest and public opinion, which are considered the true governing forces that should be followed.

A third prominent conception of democracy is the *minimalist* theory, which reduces democracy to a mere method for decision making without any normative value. This view is commonly associated with Joseph Schumpeter who posited that the mere essence of government is that "preference, values, opinions of the population...[have to] be represented in government"(Schumpeter 2010 [1947]; Posner 2003, 131). In this regard, democracy is one of many systems of collective decision making with different properties.

The fourth view herein considered is the *pluralist* view of democracy. As advanced by Robert Dahl, pluralists hold that within a democratic polity there are competing interest groups that leverage their respective positions to form voluntary associations (Dahl 1982). Then, during the electoral process, candidates have to bargain these competing interests from political leaders and subleaders within a community to achieve a successful electoral coalition in order to acquire

⁴ Due to the historical contingency of this view, it is understood that this view still excluded many non-White male social groups, such as women, black, or indigenous people.

Fact-Insensitiveness and Electoral Alignment

formal political authority (Burtenshaw 1968).⁵ Thus, elections are opportunities for reconfiguration of power structures. As put by Robert Dahl, "the size, number, and variety of minorities whose preferences must be taken into account by leaders in making policy choices" (Stephanopoulos 2014, 315; Dahl 1956).

The fifth view considered is *participatory* democracy. As a response to representative and liberal democracy, theories of participatory democracy advocated for increased participation of the people at the core of decision-making processes in a variety of sectors of society and policy domains (Bherer, Dufour, and Montambeault 2016). In this view, participatory democrats see as necessary the radicalization of democratic practices and a rethinking of the public sphere (Fraser 1990; Habermas 1989; Mouffe 2007). Consequently, the more people participate in an election, the more difficult it would be for representatives to ignore voters' opinions and, thus, legitimacy is enhanced through citizen involvement as it ensures that their interests would be considered. Lastly, the underpinning feature for coalescing of participation in voluntary associations is collective solidarity or community formed by those reacting to injustice and committed to egalitarian social relations (Wolfe 1985). That is, for, without the existence of collective solidarities, no form of participatory democracy could be possible.

The sixth and last approach is *deliberative* democracy. According to Joshua Cohen, "The point of deliberative democracy is not for people to reflect on their preferences, but to decide, in light of reasons, what to do (Cohen 2007, 222). It incorporates elements of consensus decision-making and majority rule where the primary source of legitimacy stems from the deliberation process rather than mere voting (Steiner 2012). This perspective breaks away from all previous approaches, as it disconnects itself from the existing power of the people and the centrality of electoral mechanisms.

Deflecting the aforementioned approaches to conceptualizing democracy Stephanopoulos 2014, proposes an alternative view vested in the alignment approach. The alignment approach is attractive because it operates as a structural value that promotes accountability, responsiveness, and legitimacy with respect to the whole polity. At its core, it provides a reliable benchmark for people to assess the performance of their elected representatives, by which they ought to be responsive to the concerns of their constituencies. Moreover, a properly aligned political system concedes greater legitimacy for its appropriate democratic representation (Stephanopoulos 2014;

⁵ According to Hamed Kazemzadeh, this view has been mostly embraced in contemporary Canadian politics.

Mansbridge 2003). Thus, the following section makes the argument for the alignment approach instead of any of the previous ones.

2.1.2 The Case for the Alignment Approach

The normative case for using the alignment approach, instead of any of the previously listed ones, rests on three key aspects: the need for a structural value that comprises the whole polity, elections as chief mechanisms of deliberation in democratic polities, and the prevalent view of representation as necessary for democracy.

First, instead of focusing on individual rights or groups' interests, the alignment approach gives centrality to the alignment of the whole polity and individual jurisdictions (Stephanopoulos 2014, 287). As rightly pointed out by Issacharoff, there can be "structural obstacles to the realization of majority preferences..." that cannot be addressed on a case-by-case basis (Issacharoff and Pildes 1999).⁶ Second, in democratic theory at large, there is consensus that elections, whatever design choice they might use, are at the core of democracy.⁷ In this view, Joseph Bessette, one of the pioneers of the deliberative movement has even commented that "the chief mechanism for ensuring a reliable link between the deliberations of representatives and the interests and desires of the represented is the electoral connection" (Bessette 1994, 36). Third, the litmus test for any theory of democracy is representation, embodied as congruence between the people, who are sovereign, and the wielding of power. According to Bernard Manin, this is not the idiosyncratic view of democracy but rather, a "minimal core conception, one on which specific theories converge" (Manin 1997; Stephanopoulos 2014, 320; Adam, Przeworski, Stokes, and Manin 1999). As for John Huber and G. Bingham, the notion of "congruence between the preferences of citizens, policymakers ... is not a unique position but an assumption of those who theorize about liberal democracy" (1994, 293). The alignment approach is so closely related to the essence of democracy that to state the latter is almost to articulate the former.

In sum, for Stephanopoulos, there are three components at play in the alignment approach. First, voters' preferences ought to be congruent with those of their elected representatives. Second, the *median* voter and legislator bear special normative significance because they are located in the

⁶ Referring in particular to American Democracy.

⁷ This is not the case for most deliberative theorists who posit that reasoned deliberation trumps elections or voting, however, deliberation is just important, inasmuch, as their outcomes can be translated into law that it is not always the case.

midpoints of their respective distributions and by definition speak for the popular or legislative majority. And third, the preferences of the median representative in individual districts and the jurisdiction as a whole ought to be aligned (Stephanopoulos 2014, 287). Following this view, and considering that there *ought* to be alignment across jurisdictions and polities, *how do misalignment and alignment work*?

According to Stephanopoulos, there are two types of alignment at two different levels. The first type is partisan misalignment; it refers to the congruence between the party affiliation of the elected representative and the median voter of a given electorate. The second type is policy misalignment; it refers to the congruence between how the elected representative tends to vote and the policy preferences of the median voter for those roll calls (See Fig. 1).



Figure 1 Two Types of Misalignment Mechanisms (From Stephanopoulos 2014)

As for the levels of misalignment, it can be either within a particular district or within the jurisdiction as a whole. The first one is misalignment within a particular district so that the preferences of the median voter are aligned with those of the districts. As for the second mode, within a jurisdiction as a whole, so the jurisdiction's median voter is aligned with those median members (Stephanopoulos 2014, 287). These modes of misalignment can be best illustrated through a hypothetical example in the United States. For instance, if the median voter for Florida's 25th District is a Democrat, but the elected representative is a Republican then there's partisan

misalignment.⁸ By contrast, if both the median voter and the elected representative are Democrats there can still be policy misalignment if such representative does not tend to vote following the lines of the median voter (who is a Democrat). Then, when looking at Florida as a jurisdiction, if both the median voter and median representative are Republican there is no misalignment at the jurisdiction level (of those elected from Florida to the US Congress). In this hypothetical case, one could make both of the following claims: That there is a partisan misalignment in Florida's 25th District, but there is no misalignment at the state level.

The above is significant because it establishes the link between the claim rights of the electorate with respect to their elected representatives. In light of this, misalignment can be conceived in terms of divergence between the interests of the people and the elected representatives.



Figure 2 Congruence of Entire Distributions (Author)

Another aspect that is important to differentiate is the congruence of the distribution in its entirety *vis a vis* the alignment approach.⁹ When looking at the congruence of the distribution in its entirety, this implies looking at the degree of overlap between two distributions where any deviation would result in non-congruence (See Fig. 2). Comparing the distribution of everyone's preferences, rather than the median, would amount to some kind of hypersensitive transfer of wills into 'the general will'. However, there are limits to measuring the whole distribution of preferences and comparing it. First, this view implies that the normatively significant electorate casts all its

⁸ Formally, it is possible to have policy alignment even without having partisan alignment. Take, for instance, a misaligned district where the median voter is a Democrat, and the elected representative is Republican but favors policy decisions that are shared by the median voter.

⁹ So far, and hereafter in this thesis, the words congruence and alignment are used interchangeably. In everyday language, congruence can also mean the degree of overlap between two distributions, however, this is not how it is in this work.

votes, which is seldom the case. Whereas, by looking at the median, one has a higher margin of error in measurement. Second, measuring the congruence between the distributions of the electorate and the elected representatives is more problematic from a technical and normative point of view. From a technical point of view, it is more difficult to capture the entire distribution. According to Budge and Fording, often "it is not feasible to describe the exact shape of the voter distribution on an ideological dimension" (Ian, Budge and Fording 2001, 157). And from a normative point of view, even if one measures the distribution entirely, it lacks the normative significance of the median voter. By standing in the middle, it represents the value closest to the preferences of the people voting majority

Also, in the context of right-skewed or left-skewed distributions on either side of the political spectrum, the median is the most normative significant indicator of the voting public (See Fig. 3). Even if there is a bimodal distribution, the median will remain the closest to the preferences as the distribution expands to the extremes.



Figure 3 Right and Left Skewed Distributions (Author)

Lastly, one of the mounting challenges for the alignment approach comes from the literature on formal models of democratic legislation. In his research, Kessler suggests that if all policy decisions should align with the median voter, then there would be no need for an elected representative (Kessler 2005, 27). Besides the known problems for assessing public opinion as shown by Prosser and Mellon, this assessment undermines the normative value of democracy by reducing it to merely a method for decision making (similar to what Schumpeter did) (Saffon and Urbinati 2013). Doing so disregards the normative significance that is acquired through the democratic process and the judicial checks and balances.

2.1.3 Why Not Use Instrumental Values?

In the previous section, I presented the case for the alignment approach over other democratic theories on account of its normative desirability and practical feasibility when assessing democratic polities. However, another strand of the literature has prioritized the use of instrumental values of democracy as sufficient to accomplish the ends of democracy. Particularly, *responsiveness, representativeness, competition,* and *participation* have been the dominant values in this literature (Bafumi and Herron 2010; Elmendorf 2008; Gelman and King 1994; Karlan 1992; Urbinati and Warren 2008; Powell 2004; 2000; Lijphart 2012). However, this implicitly assumes that the accomplishment of one of these values, or a combination of such, will transitively equate to the ends of democracy, but this is seldom the case.

Although these values play a significant role in the functioning of democracy, they are not sufficient for the accomplishing of democratic ends. Besides the substantive normative claim, that the core concern for democracy is that voters' preferences ought to be congruent with those of their elected representatives, in this section I will outline the limits of the use of instrumental values.

Responsiveness is one of the oldest and most widespread views for achieving democratic ends. Many democratic theories posit that under democracy governments are responsive to the preferences of the people, or so the argument goes. According to Dahl " responsiveness of the government to the preferences of its citizens [is], a key characteristic of democracy" and similar claims are not hard to find (Dahl 1971, 1). Moreover, responsiveness has been used by political scientists to assess how citizens' ideological preferences compare to those of their elected representatives in both multiparty and single-party democracies (Ansolabehere, Snyder, and Stewart 2001a, 152; Gelman and King 1994; King 1990).¹⁰ However, Przeworski et al., 1999 posited that the responsiveness of the governments to the people's will is normatively controversial whereas the degree of responsiveness of elected governments is disputed.

There are at least three significant limitations when using responsiveness. First, measuring responsiveness outside of the mechanisms of elections and electoral politics do not carry the same normative weight. Suppose that Facebook conducted a parallel election where the exact same people voted but obtained significantly different results from the elections, these alternative results

¹⁰ The most notorious models for assessing responsiveness were developed by Gelman & King in the 1990s (See Gelman & King 1994 and 1990). For a more contemporary take on measuring responsiveness at the EU level see Franchino, et al, 2022.

would carry no democratic legitimacy. Thus, any measurement of responsiveness outside of the windows and mechanisms of elections cannot have at the very least, the same normative significance. Second, measuring responsiveness is also a matter of degrees; this demands knowing the exact distributions of preferences of the public and then calculating the size of discrepancy which runs into multiple technical problems in collecting information about voters and preferences.¹¹

Third, and last, the most challenging aspect of responsiveness is that, as it is usually operationalized, it is tightly linked to measuring public opinion (Franchino, Kayser, and Wratil 2022, 42). Besides the well-established criticisms of public opinion, for relying upon partial information, and being conflictual or uncooperative, it is mainly problematic because there is "no timeless connection" between public opinion and democracy (Ghins 2022).¹² As Ghins argues, in representative democracies, political equality and binding political power are only possible through the direct exercise of popular sovereignty (2022, 26).

The origins of *representativeness* can be traced back to the origins of representative democracy itself, however, over the last decades the debate has revolved around four aspects of representation: fairness, constituency definition, deliberative political judgment, and new nonelectoral forms of representation (Urbinati and Warren 2008; Elmendorf 2008, 701). These debates have been animated by the claim that elected governments should be representative of the people they govern. For instance, a substantive part of the literature rests on the assumption that increasing female representatives naturally leads to a greater substantive representation of women's policy interests, while another strand makes similar claims concerning racial/ethnic minority interests (McEvoy 2016; Tam 2019).

Nonetheless, there are at least two limitations when using responsiveness. First, any measurement of representativeness would be contingent on the criteria used for such a measure, and as currently operationalized these tend to be identity-based factors such as gender, ethnicity, or race. This is problematic because it negates the possibility of interests' convergence or divergence within and across identity-based groups. Yet in reality ideological divergence cut-crosses identity-based aggregations, As shown in the last U.S. election, a greater sizable number of Hispano-Americans voted for Donald Trump even in higher numbers than in the previous two

¹¹ See section above for a full rebuttal of this point.

¹² See Habermas, 1989; Lippmann, 1997; Rosanvallon and Goldhammer, 2008.

election cycles (Alamillo 2019, 20).¹³ Second, an exclusive focus on inclusiveness of representation usually comes at the expense of accountability. Recent empirical studies have already confirmed that the likelihood of single-party government formation is reduced when there is a lower cost of entry into parliament, and by extension, it dampens accountability of the elected government in turn (Bol 2016, 3; Ganghof 2016).¹⁴

Participation, as typically conceptualized and operationalized in democratic studies, refers to electoral turnout.¹⁵ According to Elmendorf, participation is supposed to enhance the legitimacy of electoral outcomes when "the distribution of interests and concerns among the voting public [mirrors] the corresponding distribution within the normative electorate as a whole" (Elmendorf 2008, 675–76; Stephanopoulos 2014, 300). This implies that both participation is achieved through galvanizing electoral support throughout election cycles. In this view, legitimacy is a function of electoral participation, where increasing participation is beneficial for democracy. By the same token, numerous studies conclude that declining turnout is harmful to democracy.

In turn, these theoretical insights have prompted a fertile ground of research that focuses on the causes of unequal political participation in terms of education, income, sex, or age (Frödin Gruneau 2020; Ezrow 2010; de Benedictis-Kessner and Palmer 2021; Bechtel and Schmid 2021). Among these recent works, for instance, Benedictis-Kessner and Palmer, 2021 look at mobility access to point out that "inequalities in voter participation between groups of the population pose a problem for democratic representation" since they disproportionately marginalized populations (2021, 1). In the same fashion, many scholars have made similar arguments about the importance of increasing participation. However, there are at least two conceptual objections and one technical limitation to this view.

On the one hand, the conceptual objections are the limited scope of studying participation and the united effects derived from differential degrees of participation. First, the crux of the argument for increasing participation is that there is a skewed distribution of votes in any given election, however, to the extent that these skewed results turn into partisan or policy misalignment

¹³ In his paper Alamillo, 2019 found that racism denial was the best predictor for supporting Donald Trump among Hispanic Americans during the 2016 election cycle above party identification and ideology.

¹⁴ If measured in terms of partisan preference or ideological congruence, the representativeness would be indistinguishable, in analytical terms, to electoral congruence of the full distribution of preferences of voters as in Bafumi and Herron, 2010.

¹⁵ There is an alternative substantive view that in democratic polities participation entails citizen participation beyond the electoral mechanisms, yet accounts do not discount the normative connection established by elections (see Rosanvallon and Goldhammer, 2008 for a philosophical account and Alemanno, 2020 for an empirical one).

is a different question altogether (Stephanopoulos and McGhee 2015, 303). That is, by looking at participation rates from different population groups alone, research remains oblivious to other misalignment mechanisms such as 'cracking' and 'packing', or campaign financing (Guest, Kanayet, and Love 2019, 120; Altman et al. 2015). Second, increased participation does not entail representativeness or congruence. For instance, if in a given election there are three parties A, B, and C, increasing participation of a certain group of the population that disproportionately supports party A but not party B or C, where the majority of the voters prefer B or C over A, can still result in noncongruence. Lastly, a recent empirical study by Ezrow and Krause, 2022, across thirteen democracies from 1977 to 2018, provides evidence that declining voter turn-out in one interelection period increases party responsiveness in the following one. This suggests a counter-intuitive aspect of decreased participation.

On the other hand, from a technical perspective, it is more difficult to compare the preference distribution of all voters than the position of the median. By focusing on participation it would demand to compare the exact distribution of preferences of voters, where participation shifts have a significant impact in the shape of the distribution" (See objection in Section 1.2; Stephanopoulos, 2014, p. 302).

Lastly, according to *competition* theorists, promoting competition during the electoral process implies both responsiveness and alignment between the elected representative and the electorate, yet empirically both relationships are weak (Stephanopoulos 2014, 299). The indicator of competitiveness for competition theorists is the margin of victory for a given election. However, this mere fact on its own does not entail responsiveness, since it is entirely possible to have razor-thin elections but the same winner every time. Also, evidence of roll call from the US Congress shows that the distribution of votes of the elected representatives is more bimodal than the distribution of constituents' opinions (Ansolabehere, Snyder, and Stewart 2001a, 541–42). Thus, if there is any value in competition it stems from the relationship to other values rather than standing on its own.

Finally, it is important to highlight that all four instrumental values considered in this section are of significant importance for the alignment approach. It is needless to say that enhancing responsiveness, representativeness, competition, or participation would improve the quality of democracy. Yet, they are of second-order importance when compared to the structural value of electoral alignment given its capacious value for assessing democratic polities. Even if all

those aforementioned instrumental values were fully realized, a measurement of electoral alignment would remain necessary to address the core concern of democracy, that voters' preferences ought to be congruent with their elected representatives, a concern that can still be subject to misalignment mechanisms. In this light, the following section departs from this base claim that elections are instruments of democracy as seen through the alignment approach and devolves into the misalignment mechanisms across electoral systems.

2.2 Elections as Instruments of Democracy

Among political scientists and political theorists alike, it is widely accepted that elections are instruments of democracy par excellence. According to Linz and Stepan 1981, they enable a government *pro tempore* that can be regularly updated by reliable rules and within binding mechanisms, and in some special cases, even forced out (Coser 1957). Accordingly, elections are the principal mechanism by which conflicts are managed. Yet, they do not always reflect the will of the people and can have varying outcomes across geographies, but more importantly across electoral systems. In light of this, the following section fulfills two objectives. First, I present fundamental structural differences between electoral systems as part of their inherent functioning and tradeoffs. And second I list their respective causes of misalignment.

2.2.1 Majoritarian, Proportional, and Mixed Electoral Systems

There are three dominant electoral system types: majoritarian, proportional, and mixed. Given that they follow different visions of representation they can deliver different outcomes. On the one hand, PR systems foster a greater ideological diversity which can lead to broad coalitions and a greater degree of representativeness. Also, this implies a more open ideological space for newcomer parties since the costs of entry into parliament are sometimes not high (Ferrara 2005, 5). On the other hand, majoritarian systems are characterized as granting a bigger government mandate to whoever gets in power; however, this comes at the expense of greater ideological space (Dow 2011). Last is mixed systems that combine the best or " worst of both worlds" (Jastramskis 2019). According to Jastramskis, 2019, mixed parallel electoral systems could facilitate the fragmentation of the party system and hard to predict outcomes. However, the debate remains open about the normative higher ground and better democratic outcomes. One way of addressing this question of performance is by turning towards measuring susceptibility to misalignment mechanisms. Thus, the following section presents the main misalignment mechanisms for each electoral system

2.2.2 Misalignment Mechanisms

The bulk of the literature tends to focus on misalignment mechanisms in majoritarian systems. In practice, however, all three systems are susceptible, albeit to different degrees, to misalignment

mechanisms. In majoritarian systems, there are several main causes of misalignment but the major ones are cracking and packing via redistricting and franchise restriction (Guest, Kanayet, and Love 2019; Alexeev and Mixon 2018; Singer and Gershman 2018). On the one hand, cracking and packing refers to splitting the votes of the opposing party, to increase your chances of winning, or packing their safe districts to make gains elsewhere. Doing so ensures that you, as a party can become more competitive in any given district.

In proportional systems, the main causes of misalignment stem from allocation formulas for seat distribution, apportionment, and electoral thresholds (Pierzgalski 2018; Singer and Gershman 2018). It is worth considering that these mechanisms tend to be more stable and less subjected to politicization, but have significant influence, nonetheless. Allocation formulas are straightforward, depending on the divisor's method (*D'Hondt* or *Sainte-Laguë*) or the type of quota (Droop or Hare Quota) that is used, it can lead to different candidates being elected. Second, apportionment refers to the number of seats given to a specific territory; given the non-uniform distribution of the population, it is often the case that there are votes that count more than others. Electoral thresholds are self-explanatory since they are the minimum number of votes required for making it into parliament, which are an entry barrier for newcomer parties.

Lastly, for mixed systems, it is possible that some combination of the previously mentioned factors might come into play for producing misalignment. However, the focus of the literature has been on contamination effects (Jastramskis2018). In essence, given the compensatory formulas used after all single-member districts are won, it produces uncertainty for voters about the actual impact of their preferences. This leads to cases where a low turnout for a party leading to no seats can be reversed during the compensatory process.

In sum, the section above shows the existence of structural misalignment effects across electoral systems. These embedded designs and mechanisms can interact directly with the voters, such effects can be exacerbated or attenuated by their interactions.

2.3. Crisis of Liberal Democracies

Today's landscape for liberal democracy appears to be waning down on its currency. At the global level, and on all fronts, it seems that there are insurmountable challenges that require utmost urgency of action. As argued by Diamond, 2020 and Levitsky and Way, 2010 the main threats are coming from outside; from the standing durability of competitive authoritarianism to the fluctuating of Russia from an economic partner to an aggressor, or the rise of assertive China, are fundamental threats. However, others have argued that the most insidious threats to democracy are not coming from outside but from within. Namely, the unfolding of autocratization, the rise of populism, declining trust in public institutions, and the spread of fake news and misinformation posit a formidable combination to be overcome (Boese, Lindberg, and Lührmann 2021; Luo and Przeworski 2019; Urbinati 2019; Speed and Mannion 2017). Thus, in the following sections, first, I briefly outline the main claims about the internal challenges to democracy, and second I highlight the ontological importance of factfulness for democracy.

2.3.1 Internal Challenges to Liberal Democracies

Within the academic literature, there are five prominent strands of research about internal challenges to democracy.¹⁶ First, according to Luhrmann et al, and based on the V-Dem dataset, there is a new way of autocratization that is unfolding and gradually eroding democracy "under legal disguise" (Boese, Lindberg, and Lührmann 2021, 1095). For instance, in the case of the European Union, autocratization has accelerated via the eroding of judicial independence on account of the actions of the governments of Poland and Hungary (Pech and Scheppele 2017). For this reason, both Member States are often not considered to have democratic legitimacy (Theuns 2022). Thus, the internal challenge is within the purview of the judiciary.

Second, scholars of populism diagnose the perils of democracy as either the disregarding of citizens' consent or the collapsing of public opinion into formal institutions of power. On the one hand, to Luo and Przeworski, 2019, democratic backsliding occurs when "citizens knowingly consent to erosion of democracy" or when "the incumbent can remain in office only by backsliding" (2019, 2). On the other hand, for Urbinati 2019, the problem begins with the breaking

¹⁶ Within these research strands there are additional competing visions, to define the underlying concepts such as populism, autocratization, or democratic backsliding(See Boese, Lindberg, and Lührmann 2021; Mudde 2004). However, their common core resides on treating threats as external rather than external to democratic societies.

of the dividing wall that preserves "a distance and a difference" between formal authorities, the gatekeepers, such as political parties, that filter "the inputs coming from social groups through political proposals and eventually legislation" (Urbinati, 2019a, p. 112). In this view, the internal challenge is the dismantling of existing formal institutions that mediate power.

Third, arguments about public distrust rest on empirical studies of public perception and anti-government sentiment. According to Butzlaff and Messinger-Zimmer 2020, the tell-tale sign of a decline in trust levels can be seen by the rise of anti-system-oriented populist parties and the untrustworthiness of political representatives (2020, 253). Whereas, in his seminal work Ward, 2011, gives precedence to the changing role of information for the construction of citizen expectations and actual democratic performance.

Fourth, empirically oriented studies emphasize the role of disinformation, fake news, and the biased representation of a political process or completely manufactured messages. This is conceptualized as a post-truth society or one animated by "alternative facts". In addition, de Cleen, 2017 and Speed and Mannion, 2017 have long advocated (years before the pandemic) that "right-wing populism" should be seen as an exclusionary nationalist movement that rejects expertise and scientific knowledge.

Although all four of the aforementioned literature suppose internal challenges to democracy at large and have their significance, it is this last claim that exacerbates all others. In the absence of truthful open discussion, one cannot establish sound grounds for reasoning.¹⁷ In turn, in the following section, I make the case for factfulness as an intrinsic value for democracy.

2.3.2 Importance of Factfulness

Besides the normative challenges posed by the unrestrained fueling of fake news to the public across democratic polities, some empirical research has already prompted makeshift fireproofing innovations from their academic silos. Directly linked to the dissemination of information Stephen J. A. Ward has written from the perspective of media ethics about the personal burden posed by the effects of fake news that reside in each journalist, without compromising freedom of expression (Ward 2011). This exhortation for journalists and media in general stems

¹⁷Sidestepping the thorny philosophical discussions of truth; when speaking of truth here I refer to a view of scientific consensus as legitimate means for acquiring ground truths, rather than a grand universal Truth.

from the view that the ability to reliably inform citizens about political processes is quintessential for the functioning of democracy (Ward 2011).

The best case to display the dangers of foregoing factfulness in democratic societies is the January 6th Insurrection in the United States. First, all the people that gathered outside the capitol were partial, if not entirely motivated by conspiracy theories about electoral fraud. Looking at the electoral machinery in the United States, it is clear that the kind of claims that were made had to come from a different reality. More surprisingly was the fact that the people who committed a felony during the event, were willing to do so, without much consideration. Which shows that they genuinely believed what they were told. Yet, two factual events make the situation even more perilous. During a telephone exchange with then-acting Deputy Attorney General Richard Donoeegue, Donald Trump was wired tapped saying "Just say the election was corrupt and leave the rest to me and the Republican Congressmen" (Jonathan 2022). In essence, calling for the use and manipulation of a fake alternative narrative to galvanize his support and hold on to power. On top of this he also famously pressured the Secretary of State Brad Raffensperger, by saying "I just want to find 11,780 votes", which was precisely the number of votes he needs to turn Georgia in his favor (BBC 2021). This event poses a tall tale sign of the perils that can happen if we let go of the preservation of truth; since it is only possible for politicians to swindle people, if and when, people are susceptible to that.

Additionally, from a theoretical perspective, J.S. Mill's essence of democracy as proposed in *On Liberty* has three qualities: truth-preserving quality, the tractability of original intent, and open political discussions (Mill 2017). For Mill, in democratic societies, the importance of having a fact-based worldview underpins the proper functioning of democratic institutions. Conversely, misinformed publics and distorted worldviews entail an insidious undermining potential for democratic societies. In light of the above, one can make the normative and empirical argument for *factfulness* as an intrinsic value for the functioning of democracy.

2.4. The Case for WEIRD Political Science

One of the base assumptions in most political science research is that of the comparability of effects across populations and societies. Oftentimes, it is assumed that if a subject of analysis manifests across different geographical and temporal settings, that is sufficient for drawing insights and establishing relationships. However, recent scholarship from Muthukrishna et al. 2020, suggests that distinctive psychological variation must be taken into account when doing cross-national comparisons to control for unwanted effects(Muthukrishna et al. 2020). Specifically, it has been found that cultural and psychological variation is attributed to the coevolved historical trajectories of different societies, and the stabilizing effects of policy choices such as monogamous marriage, the strength of kinship, or cousin marriage. (Henrich, 2020; Henrich et al., 2010b, 2010a; Muthukrishna et al., 2020; J. Schulz et al., 2019; J. F. Schulz et al., 2019). Thus, in the next sections, I bridge these findings by contextualizing them into political science research. First, I look at existing approaches within comparative politics and highlight their relative strengths but how limited they are to account for psychological variation. Second, I present selected arguments from the literature on the specific coevolved psychology in WEIRD societies and its importance for doing research. Third, I outline the potential ways for bounding the applicable universe of research questions by highlighting existing applications of these precepts in political science research.

2.4.1 The State of Research in Comparative Politics

In his seminal 2011 paper, Jay K. Dow evaluates the degree by which proportionality in electoral systems influences ideological extremism of political parties; his results confirmed a long-standing thesis that higher proportionality supports "greater ideological dispersion", whereas less proportional ones "encourage parties to cluster nearer the center of the electoral space" (2011, 348). Though I do not aim to question the empirical results, there are base assumptions that I wish to highlight. First, the study comprised thirty-one electoral democracies which surprisingly included Taiwan and Peru. This design choice glosses over the known cultural differences between Eastern and Western societies, as well as the high number of indigenous peoples that live in Peru (J. Schulz et al. 2018; Muthukrishna et al. 2020). It thus fails to account for how these variables mediate the effect size for the outcome variable. More importantly, the study itself makes a

brushing claim, though unintendedly, about how the proportionality of electoral systems affects partisan extremism in a general quasi-universalistic manner. These base assumptions are not a bug of this paper, but rather a feature of most political science research, though as usual there are nuances and exceptions.

One strand of research that has paid more attention to the comparability and external validity of their research is Comparative Historical Analysis (CHA) in all its facets (See, for instance, Levitsky, 2003; Mahoney, 2010; Pierson, 2004; Skocpol, 1979; Thelen, 2004; Ziblatt, 2017, 2006). In his 2006 book, Daniel Ziblatt challenges the traditional views of state formation which are dominated by ideas, culture, and power as determinants for distinct outcomes in the cases of determining whether a federal or unitary nation-state exists (2006, 14). By looking at the cases of Germany and Italy, he proposes an alternative explanation that establishes a causal relation where highly developed infrastructural power, as defined by Mann, is a precondition for the negotiation of federalism in the first place, and "federalism is possible only when the negotiation partners of the potential federation are credible, institutionalized, and high infrastructural states" (Ziblatt 2006, 14). These conclusions already bound the validity of previous research and propose an alternative hypothesis with robust internal validity at the very least. The problem now resides in the external applicability of this alternative hypothesis. That is, how well does it travel to other contexts outside of the studied countries?

Although CHA scholars tend to provide very demanding conditions bounding the external applicability of their claims, there is still a degree of isomorphic pressure given the structure of their arguments (Bennett and Checkel 2014; Gerring 2004). When piecing their arguments together scholars think in terms of general phenomena, such as class formation or party strength, and look for country-specific cases of such phenomena.¹⁸ Thus, such phenomena and conditions may be present in other contexts that are not initially analyzed. In turn, this leaves inference wiggle room for confirmation or refutation in other potential cases.

The second strand of research that is overly concerned with both external and internal validity is Nested Analysis (NA). NA combines Large-N statistical analysis with Small-N intensive cases to formulate theories and hypotheses (See for instance Lieberman, 2009, 2015;

¹⁸ A good analogy for these general and specific cases can be found in object-oriented programming (OOP). In OOP there are classes of objects that contain certain properties. For instance, a general class can be "dog", can have properties such as "name", "owner", and "breed". Whereas the specific cases would be an instance of this class Laika (name: Laika, owner : USSR, breed: Mongrel).

Nielsen, 2016, 2013; Verghese, 2013).¹⁹ Specifically, it leverages statistical tools to select cases that are most similar or most different depending on the scope and aim of the project, before selecting specific cases that will enable to (re)formulate a model that explains mechanisms of variation and/or similarity (Nielsen 2016, 570; E. Lieberman 2009, 249; E. S. Lieberman 2005). In his 2015 book, Lieberman examines the effects that strong ethnic boundaries have on the politics of AIDS in Brazil, South Africa, and India complemented by statistical analyses of the policy responses of more than seventy developing countries and Indian states (E. S. Lieberman 2015). This study already embeds robust societally significant controls given that 'ethnic boundaries' are one of the objects of analysis. Nonetheless, despite the significant improvement of these other existing efforts they still lack to account for psychological and cultural variation.²⁰

In light of this methodological reality of political science, the following sections make the case for bounding the scope of inference (internal and external validity) in terms of cultural and psychological variation.²¹ Drawing on the literature on human evolutionary biology, cultural transmission, and psychology studies, the next sections make the case for doing political science research that accounts for cultural and psychological variation.

2.4.2 Coevolved WEIRD Psychology

The thrust of the argument for taking cultural and psychological variation into account stems from a basic question: *can societies be taken as uniform subjects of research despite the known distinctive historical trajectories of cultures, belief systems, and societal structures*? This question challenges the standard view that psychology precedes cultural and societal forces, and thus there cannot be psychological variation. In the standard view, psychology exists a-temporally and is exogenous to societies, and by extension, conducting psychological studies across different populations should lead to the same results; however, this is not the case. Specifically, the advent of the replication crisis provided grounds for questioning previously thought "solid findings"

¹⁹ There is a third strand of research that emphasizes more quantitative Large-N analysis (See Cusack et al., 2007), yet I consider that the advantages and disadvantages of this are already included in Nested Analysis, and do not require individual critical engagement.

²⁰ Some Anthropologists have emphasized these differences but have mostly remained insulated from mainstream political science research.

²¹ These challenges, by extension, are also found in democratic studies. Some scholars have begun to recognize the dubious ground and problematic scope of established theories about how democracies emerge and sustain over time in different contexts (See Rodrigues Sanches, 2022).

(Pashler and Wagenmakers 2012). Moreover, this problem has not faltered into the distance but gained centrality across more disciplines. In a 2016 survey from Nature, "more than 70% of researchers have tried and failed to reproduce another scientist's experiments", and more than half have failed to reproduce their own experiments" (Baker 2016).

Against this background, researchers have questioned two assumptions of this standard view of psychology: representativeness and generalizability (Henrich 2020; Muthukrishna et al. 2020; J. Schulz et al. 2019; Henrich, Heine, and Norenzayan 2010b; Arnett 2008). First, existing databases in the behavioral sciences are drawn from an extremely narrow slice of human diversity. According to a study done by Arnett, "analysis of the top journals in six subdisciplines of psychology from 2003 to 2007 revealed that 68% of subjects came from the United States, and a full 96% within the West" which makes the samples far from representative (Arnett 2008, 603). Second, in particular, Henrich 2010, flagged the over-reliance on samples drawn entirely from WEIRD societies to make broad claims about human psychology and behavior in the world's top journals, discrediting the universalizing ethos of findings from this narrow slice to the whole species (Henrich, Heine, and Norenzayan 2010b).

Taking these differences into account when conducting research promises to more accurate claims and avoid confounding. However, it is worth noting two key points about WEIRD psychology and WEIRDness. On the one hand, it should not be seen as if there is psychological uniformity within WEIRD societies, instead, there is variability contingent on the population backgrounds. Second, it is not a dichotomous variable which a society is or is not, but a scale of WEIRDness. For instance, as usually highlighted in Henrich's works Southern Italy is less WEIRD, and thus shows variation in responses in relation to Northern Italy. Overall, it remains a useful classification slices for moving and embracing past narrow psychological representativeness (Muthukrishna et al. 2020).

2.4.3 Bounding the Applicable Universe

Considering the above, how then can one operationalize these findings? In the literature, and to the best of my knowledge, there are only two recent papers that directly engage with degrees of WEIRDness. First, in his paper, Wang 2022 assessed the relationship between kinship and state building in ancient China. Standard literature suggests that strong kinship networks reduce scaling up and state-building capacity. Contra this claim, Wang found that when people are geographically

dispersed, this spatial limitation crosscuts local cleavages and aligns the incentives of selfinterested elites in favor of building a strong state" by building economies of scale. A Second study by Schulz, 2022, provides evidence that strong kin networks are detrimental to democratic participatory institutions. By looking at the Medieval Catholic Church's marriage regulations, Schulz shows how the enforcement of monogamous marriage, and the banning of cousin marriage fosters the emergence of participatory institutions in historical terms. Both of these research projects engage directly with questions relevant to the degrees of WEIRDness as proposed by Henrich, thus it offers avenues for looking at significant diversity of effects across populations. In this same spirit, this thesis takes a leap of confidence into this type of work and frames the question in the same terms.

2.5 Conclusion and the Way Forward

As a matter of summary, and before moving on to the research design it is necessary to highlight three key aspects. First, the normative significance of the alignment approach, as argued and assessed here, stands as the best proxy for measuring the core concern of democracy, and thus, has significance for conducting this research. Second, electoral systems possess significant structural differences, as well as misalignment mechanisms that posit a challenge for the realizing of alignment. Likewise, building on Stephanopoulos's modes and types of misalignments I hereby extend his proposition with two additional modes of partisan misalignment (See Fig. 4).



Ideological Misalignement Due to Constituency Composition



Figure 4 Additional Mechanisms of Misalignment (Author)

On the left side, I show the relationship between ideological misalignment due to multiple candidates but in the context of a multi-seat district which is necessary for studying parliamentary democracies. On the right side, I propose a novel type of partisan misalignment by taking into consideration multiple jurisdictions rather than the lowest and highest ones as usually considered. Instead of just looking at alignment at the district and state level, I propose to find normative significant units that render themselves useful for assessing ideological alignment. It is worth considering that this model suggests a tantalizing avenue of analysis yet unexplored. Third, and last, is well established in the scope of this thesis, that fact-insensitiveness is a pivotal aspect of the function of democracy and thus demands examination. Considering the emerging internal challenges to liberal democracy, it has been shown the primacy of factfulness.
WEIRD Societies

Chapter 3 Research Design

The research design chapter operationalizes the theoretical and conceptual aspects presented in the previous chapter. Considering the wide range of difficulties when conducting cross-national and interdisciplinary research, certain aspects of the operationalization processes resulted in independent significant contributions in their own right. Specifically, the devising and standardizing of the comparable units of analysis come top of the list. Thus, the following six sections outline the six relevant design choices for the research namely: hypotheses being tested, datasets and usage, the definition of units of analysis, measurement of variables, sample size and countries section, and methodology.

3.1 Hypotheses

The research design implies a cross-country comparison across mixed, SMD, and PR electoral systems, which results in three main hypotheses to be tested. Implicitly, this set-up allows us for further considerations between each of the three systems, whereby, the effect size can be further compared across electoral systems (i.e., Majoritarian systems are more sensitive to fact-insensitive thane PR as a function of their electoral misalignment).

- *H*₀: *Fact-insensitiveness* does not correlate with electoral misalignment across PR systems in WEIRD societies.
- *H₁: Fact-insensitiveness* positively correlates with electoral misalignment across PR systems in WEIRD societies.
- *H*₀: *Fact-insensitiveness* does not correlate with electoral misalignment across SMD systems in WEIRD societies.
- *H₂: Fact-insensitiveness* positively correlates with electoral misalignment across SMD systems in WEIRD societies.
- *H*₀: *Fact-insensitiveness* does not correlate with electoral misalignment across mixed systems in WEIRD societies.
- *H₃: Fact-insensitiveness* positively correlates with electoral misalignment across mixed systems in WEIRD societies.

It is worth noting that the main scope of this research is to test the individual strength of this relationship, rather than other potentially relevant political factors that might come into play when assessing misalignments such as party systems, or political culture. It is assumed within the research design, based on the criticality of truthfulness for the functioning of Democratic politics, that the distortion effects should become readily visible as they interact with other components. That is, fact-insensitiveness should disrupt them agnostically, and if there are structural aspects within electoral system types that play a significant role in mitigating or attenuating the effects they will come to light.

3.2 Datasets and Usage

The research question of this thesis is preeminently quantitative, though eclectic in its data sources. For, one of the reasons for doing this research is the lack of a coherent and compatible dataset that encompasses all the variables and moving parts that make up the basis of this puzzle. There is no existing dataset that comprises electoral results, ideological positions of political parties, vaccination data, and COVID-19-related protests. In this section, I outline the datasets that were used to conduct my analysis, and any considerable corrections made, and I provide explanations for the operationalization of the independent variables contained therein. Additionally, I explain how each dataset connects and interrelates with one another.

Regarding electoral results, this thesis mostly relies on the Constituency-Level Elections Archive (CLEA) (Kollman et al. 2020). Specifically, it employs lower chamber data from the following countries: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, Denmark, France, Germany, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Slovenia, the United Kingdom, and the United States.22 However, this dataset was significantly corrected for two countries: France and Slovenia. In the case of France, there were significant discrepancies between the official 2017 French legislative election results for some constituencies, and the values found in the dataset.23 As for Slovenia, given that it was classified as a single national constituency, rather than several, it was necessary to territorialize the seats into normative significant towns (Mesto) for adequate comparability.24 Additionally, this

 $^{^{22}}$ Some of the aforementioned countries are not included in the latest data released but were provide on a personal request. For the latest data release see their official website <u>CLEA Archive</u>.

²³ For technical specifications see the replication code notebook.

²⁴ Full details of this process are found in the country notes section.

dataset was complemented by official electoral data from Australia, Austria, Switzerland, and the Netherlands because it was not provided in the dataset.

The second dataset used was the Manifesto Project Dataset (CMP) maintained by the WZB Berlin Social Science Center (Volkens et al. 2021). This dataset contains relevant information about 1201 political parties concerning party positions, election programs, party families, and ideological affinities among others. It mostly contains democracies from the OECD and Central and Eastern European countries. Going as far back as, the nineteen twenties, or since their first democratic election. The most relevant variable operationalized was the RILE Index, which applies canonical correlation analysis to test associations within and between the sets of party position variables (Mölder 2016; Jahn 2011). This value was used for measuring ideological congruence.

The third dataset used was the PPEG Database, also produced by WZB Berlin at the department of "Democracy & Democratization" (PPEG 2022). Its main purpose was to match the political party names from the CLEA dataset onto the Manifesto Project via their internal code structure.

The fourth dataset used was the ACLED dataset, specifically The COVID-19 Disorder Tracker, which provides special coverage of pandemic-related events (Raleigh et al. 2010). The purpose of using this dataset was to have an accurate measurement of the demonstrations, protests, or violent events that were directly linked to the spread of the virus, new medical guidelines, and/or government travel and assembly restrictions for the studied period. For this, ACLED classifies these events only if they were explicitly linked to the COVID-19 pandemic such as targeting of healthcare workers, anti-lockdown protests, or similar. It does not capture any not directly linked such as cease-fires due to covid or other contingent events (Raleigh et al. 2010). The number of events by location was used as a proxy for measuring fact-insensitiveness.

Besides the already mention datasets employed in this thesis, and the complementary preprocessing conducted to make them fit for purpose, part of the novelty of this research stems from the collection, systematization, and creation of a novel dataset for measuring fact-insensitiveness of cross-national validity. On the one hand, to the best of my knowledge, no one possesses vaccination data at this level of granularity for all the studied countries. For instance, Our World In Data project has one of the most comprehensive datasets, yet subnational data is limited to the United States at the State Level (Ritchie et al. 2020). On the other hand, even though

vaccination data for the studied countries are publicly available on their respective government websites, the geographical units were dissimilar to electoral constituencies. Thus, this implied a dual process of convertibility across different subnational geographical units to produce vaccination data at the constituency level. For instance, for Austria vaccination data was published at the municipal level (Gemeinde), which was then aggregated at the constituency level to make comparisons possible. Overall, all datasets can be found in the replication code along with all variable descriptions.

3.3 Units of Analysis: Standardization of Territorial Units

As elaborated in the previous section, there is a normatively significant link between the electorate and territoriality. This link is reflected differently across electoral systems. In majoritarian and mixed systems, voters might make strategic calculations to better reflect their preferences and might decide to choose the lesser evil candidate (Eggers and Vivyan 2020; Cox 1997; Anderson 2022).²⁵ Thus, mixing and matching electors by any other territorial administrative unit, smaller than a constituency, has no normative value. In PR systems, the significance of this link is less clear cut, however, it still exists since the apportionment quotas tend to mostly reflect cities or communities, which share historical trajectories or common experiences (Schwingenschlogl and Drton 2004; Schuster et al. 2003; van Eck, Visagie, and de Kock 2005).²⁶ That is, people who live in rural areas can be bundled into a single constituency since they share more in common than their fellow city-dwelling citizens. As for big cities, with inner constituencies, this will often reflect disparities between north, south, or neighborhoods, yet the normative case for such divisions is weaker if the population is big enough.

In ideal terms, the most normatively desirable constituency would be a geographical division with an equal division of people and a corresponding number of seats, where they are geographically proximate. In the spirit of this ideal constituency, I proceed to define my units of analysis.²⁷

²⁵ The prevalence of strategic voting is well documented in the literature for Canada, the United States, and the United Kingdom. Moreover, the current state has moved past to identify 'whom' are strategic voters and their effects across different electoral configurations.

²⁶ It has been implicit in the literature that such units exist, and the major focus has been on the effects of different apportionment formulas, rather than their definition characteristics.

²⁷ However, the balancing act between population, size of electorate, similar living experiences, and geographical proximity implies trade-offs that have not been resolved either technically or normatively speaking. According to

Given the comparative nature of this thesis, one of the most important tasks was to establish comparable units of analysis that possess similar properties while preserving the normative significance demanded by the study of electoral alignment. Moreover, considering that each country has its own legislation for establishing electoral constituencies this was a non-trivial task. Thus, two main challenges were addressed in this process: aggregating constituencies into upper units of analysis and defining comparable units across electoral systems.

The first challenge was to define the lowest standard unit of analysis given that electoral constituencies vary in how they are established across SMD, PR, and mixed electoral systems. First, all majoritarian systems have constituencies as the lowest level of electoral representation, however, these do not always naturally aggregate into greater administrative or politically significant divisions.

This is best illustrated in the cases of the United Kingdom and the United States. Both countries define district boundaries based on population projections from census data, however, the politicized nature of redistricting in the United States combined with its rules of procedure has led to oddly shaped districts to fulfill the goal of equal population distribution among them (Cain 2014; M. P. McDonald 2007). Consequently, this kind of redistricting leads to district boundaries that cut across different counties or split them entirely. For instance, following the 2020 redistricting cycle, Maryland's 3rd Congressional District now comprises Howard County, most of Anne Arundel County, Glen Burnie and Annapolis, and parts of Frederick and Carroll counties (See Figure 6). Thus, there is no natural upper administrative-political unit that comprises this territory before the state level. By contrast, in the United Kingdom, Westminster constituencies follow more geographically contiguous aggregations that are more stable and have a corresponding upper region. For instance, Bolton Northeast, Bolton Southeast, and Bolton West correspond to Bolton borough (See Figure 5).²⁸ Though, this simpler definition of boundaries results in different population sizes across constituencies with sizable differences of more than ten thousand people.

Carter "there is no "best" apportionment method, but a knowledge of the properties of the various methods enables a political choice of the most appropriate method" (Carter 1982, 575). ²⁸ All color maps and figures presented here were made using with the <u>Datawrapper</u> webapp, for which I am very

thankful for their policy for personal and academic use.



Figure 5 Map of Borough of Bolton by Constituencies

Figure 6 Map of Maryland's 3rd Congressional District

In the case of PR systems, electoral constituencies more often tend to reflect the natural city or county boundaries within the countries, however, this is sometimes problematized by the way seats are allocated. This is best illustrated in the cases of Austria and the Netherlands. On the one hand, Austria has well-defined electoral constituencies that correspond to upper administrative boundaries. For instance, all Carinthia East and Carinthia West correspond to the Carinthia State, whereby the allocation of seats is established based on the constituency and the state-wide results. This allows for the easy aggregation of constituencies into states. On the other hand, the Netherlands does not have constituencies per se, instead, they have a national ballot that is then translated into nationwide seats irrespective of the location of the votes. However, there are significant government functions assigned to regions or municipalities, such as Amsterdam, The Hague, or Utrecht. Thus, municipalities were aggregated to their parent region to create a comparable unit of analysis. Subsequently, parent regions were aggregated into provinces.



Figure 7 Tilburg and Utrecht with Municipalities

Figure 8 Carinthia Electoral Districts

In the case of mixed electoral systems, the challenges were a combination of both cases previously addressed, and by extension, the same courses of action were followed.

The second challenge was to establish comparable units across electoral systems, without losing normative significance. Considering that proportional representation systems assign multiple seats by constituency, this was taken to be the lowest normative significant unit of analysis and could not be broken any further. These units were then equated with constituencies from majoritarian and mixed systems. Subsequently, when aggregating to greater units of analysis PR constituencies were kept the same, while those from majoritarian and mixed systems were aggregated into cities or parent regions.

This is best illustrated by the case of the Netherlands and France. In the case of Dutch Parliamentary constituencies, they remain the same when grouped into a greater unit of analysis. By contrast, French constituencies can be grouped into their respective departments to make a greater unit of analysis, this provides a stable comparison across systems despite the definitional differences.



Figure 9 Dutch Parent Regions

Figure 10 French Departments

In turn, these pragmatic choices resulted in four main units of analysis, constituencies, upper 1, upper 2, and state level. These were defined in increasing terms for each country; the precise equivalences are found in the chart below. For a detailed description of the convertibility and the selection of the units of analysis of each country see the country notes. Below is the summary table of these decisions and selection processes.

			Standardized C	fints of Analysis by	Country	
Country	ISO3	Region	State	Upper 2	Upper 1	Constituency
Australia	AUS	State	State	SA4	SA3	Electorate
Austria	AUT	Länd	Länd	Regional wahlkreis	Regional wahl kreis	Regional wahlkreis
Belgium	BEL	$Communaut\acute{e}$	$Communaut\acute{e}$	Province	Province	Province
Canada	CAN	Province	Province	Province	Province	Electoral District
Czech Republic	CZE	Region	Kraj	Kraj	Kraj	Kraj
Denmark	DNK	Regione	Regione	Kommune	Kommune	Kommune
France	FRA	$R\acute{e}gions$	$R\acute{e}gions$	Department	Department	Circonscription
Germany	DEU	Land	Land	Land	Wahlkreise (Combined)	Wahlkreise
Netherlands	NLD		Provincie	Provincie	Provincie	Gemeente (Parent Region)
New Zealand	NZL		Region	Region	Region	Geographical Constituency
Norway	NOR	Landsdel	Valgkretser (Fylker)	Valgkretser (Fylker)	Valgkretser (Fylker)	Valgkretser (Fylker)
Poland	POL		Dolnoślaskie	Okreg wyborczy	Okreg wyborczy	Okreg wyborczy
Slovenia	SVN	NUT2	Mesto	Mesto	Mesto	Mesto
Switzerland	CHE	Region	Canton	Canton	Canton	Canton
United Kingdom	GBR	Nation	Nation	Region	Local Authority District	Parliamentary Constituencie
United States	USA	Division	State	State	County	Congressional District

Standardized Units of Analysis by Country

Table 1 Units of Analysis by Country

Lastly, the table below includes all the studied countries and the periods being analyzed. The study period does not refer to a comprehensive time series analysis of the given time frame, instead, it indicates the boundaries of data employed for each country regarding election results, COVID-19 vaccinations, and other relevant variables. For instance, in the case of the Netherlands, the studied period is less than a year (from March 2021) because elections happen to take place during the relevant period of the pandemic, and these election results were used for measuring misalignment. By the same token, countries like the Czech Republic or France, indicate much longer periods of analysis because elections result relevant for the vaccination periods took place in 2017.

)
Country	ISO3 Alpha	ISO3 Numeric	Studied Period
Australia	AUS	36	2019-2021
Austria	AUT	40	2019-2021
Belgium	BEL	56	2019-2021
Canada	CAN	124	2019-2022
Czech Republic	CZE	203	2017-2021
Denmark	DNK	208	2019-2021
France	\mathbf{FRA}	250	2017-2021
Germany	DEU	276	$2017-2021^{a}$
Netherlands	NLD	528	$2021-2021^{b}$
New Zealand	NZL	554	2020-2021
Norway	NOR	578	$2017-2021^{c}$
Poland	POL	616	2019-2021
Slovenia	SVN	705	2018-2021
Switzerland	CHE	756	2019-2021
United Kingdom	GBR	826	2019-2021
United States	USA	840	2020-2021

Studied Country List (WEIRD Nations)

Table 1: $^a\mathrm{before}$ September 24 elections, b after the 15–17 March election, c before the 13 September 2021 election

Table 2 Studied Countries and Periods

3.4 Measurement of Variables

3.4.1 Misalignment

As presented in the previous section there are varied, and multiple mechanisms of misalignment found across majoritarian, proportional, and mixed systems, however, it is not viable for this research project to engage with every single one of them. Thus, this work will only focus on the effects of existing district lines, electoral thresholds, the effective weight of votes, and the allocation of seats as found across both systems. These are solely structural mechanistic aspects but can play a significant role in inducing or reducing misalignment. Take, for instance, an apportionment quota that gives more weight to geographically remote voters, which could be more susceptible to fake news or alternative facts. Also, depending on the drawing of boundaries for electoral districts, these differences can play a significant role. By design, the measurement of electoral alignment will exclude mechanisms that prevent people from having their vote cast in the first place.

In turn, as operationalized in this thesis alignment, refers to the ideological congruence between the median voter and the median representative of the unit of analysis in question. This implies a within-country ideological comparison of the preferences of the electorate and the elected representatives rather than a cross-country ideological comparison. In doing so, this research considers the idiosyncratic ideological differences of each country by analyzing them on their own terms. Thus, it is indifferent to whether the ideological center of a country is skewed to the left or right in comparison to other countries. To measure party ideology, I use the RILE Index as measured by the CMP. Then employing the following equations, I calculated the median voter and the degree of misalignment.

$$Med(X) = \begin{cases} X[\frac{n}{2}], & \text{if n is even.} \\ \frac{(X^{\frac{n-1}{2}} + X^{\frac{n-1}{2}})}{2}, & \text{if n is odd.} \end{cases}$$
(1)

Where X is the ideological score of the respective political party and n is the total number of valid votes for the given unit of analysis.

Equation 1 Median Voter (using RILE)

Ideological Distance Equation

$$IdeoDist(d) = x - y \tag{2}$$

Where x is the ideological score of the normative significant median voter and y is the ideological score of the median representative for the given unit of analysis.

Equation 2 Ideological Distance RILE

Lastly, the scope of my research does not carry the normative significance for adjudicating seats in a different manner that were allocated. Thus, it is also not intended to be a practical tool to be invoked for doctrinal justification in tightly contested elections where the votes of ideologically similar parties ought to be transferred to the nearest ideological neighbor (contra

Stephanopoulos and McGhee, 2015). Instead, its main objective is to provide a sound comparative framework of analysis of misalignment across electoral systems at the system level. This rationale implies transitivity of preferences across voters, where the median voter can be determined along a unidimensional ideological spectrum.

3.4.2 Fact-Insensitiveness

The previous section already presented the case for the importance of fact-insensitiveness for weird societies, in particular, to understand the effects of misalignment across electoral systems. Thus, taking advantage of the copious and timely availability of the covid-19 dataset across countries, this research measures this variable via two proxies: COVID-19 vaccination rates and direct COVID-19 disorder events. Both values were measured at the lowest possible administrative level and then aggregated by constituencies on a country-by-country basis.²⁹

$$VaccinationRate = 1 - \frac{TotalPeopleVaccinated1dose}{Population} * 100$$
(3.4)

$$Protest(p) = \frac{Number of Protests}{Population \div 100}$$
(3.5)



The significance of measuring fact-insensitiveness as a proxy for people's responsiveness to facts rests on the premise that people can make an autonomous choice about vaccinations and ant covid protests and by definition have a referendum with their bodies. In turn, measuring *fact-insensitiveness* across constituencies enables us to compare how this group effect correlates with electoral results sidestepping problems associated with public opinion and voter turnout.

3.5 Sample Size N=2722

As introduced in the previous section and following through with the promise of doing WEIRD political science research, when doing cross-spatial comparisons it is necessary to account for the

²⁹ To calculate the number of events I used a curated ACLED dataset "Direct COVID-19 Disorder Events(See Raleigh et al. 2010)

cultural and psychological variation found across societies (Henrich 2020; J. Schulz et al. 2019; Muthukrishna et al. 2020). In the context of this research, it was necessary to select the countries with the lowest cultural and psychological distance from each other and that was classified as electoral democracies in their political systems. The completion of this selection task required two separate steps.

First, I borrowed the replication data from Schulz et al., 2019, which contains the most comprehensive dataset mapping variables relevant for discerning patterns of global psychological variation. These variables trace back the variation by measuring kinship, nuclear households, family ties and residential mobility, greater individualism, conformity, and impersonal prosociality (J. Schulz et al. 2018). Additionally, to subset for countries that are defined as electoral democracies, I used the "List of Electoral Democracies 2022" from Freedom House (Freedom House 2022). This resulted in a dataset of electoral democracies and their corresponding attributes for measuring cultural and psychological distance.

Second, to generate a workable set of countries with the most cultural and psychological proximity I generated a further subset, employing the fixation index F_{ST} from Muthukrishna et al, 2020. The fixation index is a meaningful statistic in evolutionary psychology that maps cultural beliefs and behaviors and, thus, a good proxy for WEIRDness of populations (Muthukrishna et al. 2020). This is also useful for case selection in comparative work. Moreover, to generate a balanced sample of countries, I selected six countries with the least cultural and psychological distance to the United States, instead of using any single country. The selected countries were Canada, Cyprus, Italy, New Zealand, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, and the United States. These selected countries were defined as the treatment and then used as a frame of reference for selecting the remaining countries using the *MatchIt* package in R (Ho et al. 2011).

Then, I attempted 1:4 nearest neighbor propensity score matching without replacement, using logistic regression for the treatment of the covariates. This method yielded a suboptimal balance on the matches, so I decided to use genetic matching instead. Genetic matching yielded a better performance as indicated in Figures 12 and 11, resulting in twenty-eight matches.³⁰ Even though not all standardized mean differences were reduced below 0.1, which is a good indicator of a good balance, this is not a significant issue since the studied populations (Muthukrishna et al.

³⁰ The genetic matching method from the *MatchIt* package (Ho, Imai, King, & Stuart, 2011), which calls functions from the Matching package(Sekhon 2011; A. Diamond and Sekhon 2013).

2020) provided sufficient similarity for the studied countries. Besides, the goal of this matching process was to reduce the bias in the estimation of the effects on the dependent variable and provide a nonparametric relevant estimand to the selection of countries, which serves the due purpose (Rubin 2007). For this reason, the matching process did not include any of the dependent variables.



Figure 12 Propensity Scores of Electoral Democracies



Additionally, there is another sampling possibility that was considered for this thesis but was ultimately discarded. Given that the base unit of analysis is constituencies, it would be naturally best suited to do genetic matching, in terms of WEIRDness at this level rather than countrywide. However, there are two problems with this view. First, from a data availability perspective, there is no comprehensive dataset that captures cultural distance at this level of granularity.

Second, considering the structural normative value of the state, there is the significance for studying politics and matching them as a whole. However, if at any point data became available at this level of granularity it would be relevant for controlling for effect sizes, rather than matching individual cases.³¹ At last the selected countries a picture below by electoral system type.

³¹ Consider that this might not be the case for other political studies than focus on transnational phenomenon, or that do not have a country wide normative significance at hand.



Figure 13 Studied Countries

3.6 Methodology

Given the research design and research question at hand, out of the available options for analysis large N regression analysis was the most appropriate fit. Considering that there is not a changing temporal dimension for post-treatment effects, and the significant amount of data and countries analyzed any other methodology demanding a more sensitive protocol would have been unviable. Thus, the strength of doing regression analysis stands when there is a need for the analysis of linear relationships. In which case, one of the base assumptions of this research is that fact-insensitiveness can positively or negatively, correlate to the misalignment if there is an interaction. Furthermore, considering that the predicting variable was dichotomous, whether there is alignment or not the most suitable candidate was a generalized linear model with a binomial distribution (Sykes 1993).

Thus, the model tested was the following :

$$P_{Alignment} = \frac{e\alpha + b_{FactInsensitiveness}}{1 + \alpha + b_{FactInsensitiveness}} \tag{1}$$

Where P is a Boolean value indicating whether there is a lignment or not, and B is the degree of Fact-Insensitiveness.

Figure 14 Logistic Regression Model

WEIRD Societies

Chapter 4 Analysis

In this chapter, I present and examine the results of the empirical study conducted for this thesis. The structure is divided into two sections. The first one offers a brief overview of the patterns found across the whole studied population, which directly engages with the literature on partisan bias across electoral systems. For the second one, I present the descriptive comparison of the relationship between fact-insensitiveness and alignment across and within electoral systems. The core of the analysis hereby presented, resides in understanding the strength of the relationship between these two key measured variables.

4.1 Initial Patterns

As preceded in the literature review, one of the most studied aspects when looking at representative bodies is whether there is partisan bias, and if so, which political party is being favored by such dislodgement. In recent years, studies of partisan bias have inundated the American literature with different indicators attempting to measure partisan bias. For instance, McGann et al., 2016 posit that in the US context, state governments have taken advantage of their legislative prerogative and jurisdictional scope when not challenged by the court (McGann et al. 2016, 56). In turn, they advocate using Gelman and King, 1994 methodology for measuring partisan bias, however, this is not the only measurement found in academia. Another well-established measurement with significant judicial weight is the Efficiency Gap, as proposed by Stephanopoulos and McGhee, 2015 which builds on the alignment approach and is based on the idea of partisan symmetry.

The Efficiency Gap is spatialized as the votes that are wasted in any district in the context of a two-party system. Yet, this is not useful outside the context of a two-party system. For this reason, it is more optimal to operationalize the alignment approach through a unidimensional ideological mapping. This is where the RILE Index becomes potentially useful. As already mentioned in the previous section, the RILE Index estimates the parties on a left-right spectrum, which can then be operationalized to estimate the ideology of the median voter and the median



representative. Thus, when looking at the results for the studied countries a couple of patterns emerge as seen in Figure 15.

Figure 15 Distribution of Misaligned Seats by Country

The above figure is a density plot that maps the degree of partisan misalignment at the lower house (or parliament level) of the studied countries according to the RILE Index. At a glance, it is true that for the most part there is alignment between the elected representative and their respective median voters, however, Germany stands out in particular. Since its density distribution is the most spread out of all countries (the flattest), it means that the degree and number of seats misaligned considerably exceed those of other countries. This is an interesting finding because the other mixed system included here, (New Zealand), besides a few outliers, remains mostly at the center. Another visual finding is that the distance from the center appears to be more of a function of the party system than the electoral system choice. This means that countries like Canada or Germany that have broader ideological diversity can be more prone to high degrees of misalignment if it occurs, confirming some theoretical expectations about leapfrog representation (Bafumi and Herron 2010).

Looking at electoral systems at large, there appear to be significant differences in their propensity and degree of misalignment (See Fig. 16). First, PR systems show the greatest degree of alignment, over both mixed or majoritarian, which confirms the results presented by McDonald et al., 2004 about median voter congruence. On the other hand, Majoritarian systems have a high degree of alignment as well but show significant outliers at greater distances that PR systems, which raises a significant avenue of inquiry whether this could be attributed to levels of polarization, party fragmentation, or policy, to mention a few remains an open question in the literature (Graham and Svolik 2020; Singer and Gershman 2018). Lastly, mixed systems show the greatest dispersion of misaligned seats and at the greatest frequency, though besides the literature on contamination effects there has not been a specific focus on this matter.³²



Figure 16 Degree of Lower House Misalignment by Country

Besides the density distribution of alignment and misalignment, another important aspect is the exact number of seats misaligned and the degree. First, it is noticeable that there is a

³² It is likely that there is country-specific literature on this subject, but there has not been a general revision of mixed systems besides contamination effects and post-contamination effects. See for instance Ferrera, 2018, p. 5; Jastramskis, 2019)

significant difference in terms of numbers across electoral systems, of course in part due to the sampling technique and the sheer population sizes of the countries studied, however, Figure 16 still captures the distribution for each system. Then, one can draw inferences from each but cannot compare them. At a closer look, majoritarian systems show a binomial distribution, which also which explains the centrality of the distribution when looking at a density plot over a unidimensional ideological spectrum. In such cases, differences cancel out and on the aggregate level, there is more median convergence. PR systems showed a normal distribution which once again reaffirms convergence to the median. By contrast, mixed systems show a non-normal distribution, but not much else can be inferred without looking at the statistics. Thus, in the next section, I look into these patterns in relation to fact-insensitiveness.



Figure 17 Misaligned Seats by Partisan Affiliation by Electoral Systems

4.2 Regression Analysis at Different Units of Analysis

Before moving on to each of the respective units of analysis it is necessary to outline two theoretical expectations. On the one hand, the key question of this research is to discern the degree to which fact-insensitiveness affects electoral alignment across electoral systems. By the same token, it is expected to find statistically significant differences across the electoral systems if their structural differences enable such differentials (Pierzgalski 2018; Ferrera 2018). On the other hand, as presented in the literature it is possible to have different effects at different levels of assessment for which misaligning effects could be exacerbated or diminished when moving from one unit of analysis to the next one.

At the constituency level (N=2722), if fact-insensitiveness plays a significant role in the parsing of electoral results; the number of misaligned seats should be positively or negatively correlated. Looking at Figures 18 and 19 one can readily see that there are some significant differences across systems. First, for PR and majoritarian systems, there is a centrality in the distribution of seats, entailing greater alignment in comparison to mixed systems. Similarly, PR systems are not affected by increases in fact-insensitiveness. On the other hand, majoritarian systems show a greater dispersion in the distribution of misaligned seats, however, the coefficient is not significant enough for making statistical inferences.



Figure 18 Constituency Level Fact-Insensitiveness



Figure 19 Constituency Level Fact-Insensitiveness and Alignment Distribution

Also, Table 3 shows the combined results of the logistic regression performed for each electoral system as well as for the combination of all three. Out of the independent variable and control variables, there is no statistical significance between fact-insensitiveness and electoral alignment. In sum, at the constituency level, there is no observable effect of fact-insensitiveness over the alignment.

		Dependent variable:		
		alignment		
	Means	Majoritarian	Proportional	Mixed
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
fact_in3	-0.508(-1.325, 0.309)	-1.577^{*} $(-2.905, -0.250)$	$2.876 \ (-0.884, 6.636)$	-1.200(-3.302, 0.903)
sdex2	-0.022^{***} $(-0.031, -0.012)$	-0.053^{***} $(-0.082, -0.024)$	0.029^{+} (0.0004, 0.058)	0.164^{***} (0.084, 0.245)
depen_ratio	-2.601^{***} $(-4.031, -1.171)$	-0.375 $(-2.306, 1.556)$	4.432(-1.901, 10.766)	-4.396(-10.212, 1.419)
life_expect	-0.237^{***} $(-0.300, -0.174)$	-0.173^{***} $(-0.269, -0.078)$	$-0.397^{**}(-0.661, -0.132)$	-0.323(-0.723, 0.076)
gdp.percapita2019	-0.0001(-0.0001, 0.0000)	0.00000(-0.00001, 0.00001)	0.00004^{**} (0.00001, 0.0001)	-0.00003^{***} $(-0.0001, -0.0001)$
excessdeath	-0.011 $(-0.152, 0.129)$	-0.152(-0.381, 0.078)	-1.327^{***} $(-1.911, -0.743)$	-0.104(-0.569, 0.360)
disposable_income2019	0.0001^{***} $(0.0001, 0.0001)$	0.0001^{*} (0.00001, 0.0002)	0.0001 (-0.0003, 0.0005)	0.0002 (-0.0001, 0.0004)
primary_income_percapita2019	-0.0001(-0.0003, 0.0001)	0.00004 (-0.0004, 0.0001)	-0.0001^{***} $(-0.0001, -0.00005)$	0.0000(-0.001, 0.0001)
tertiary_edu	2.655*** (1.603, 3.706)	-3.059^{**} $(-5.073, -1.044)$	0.430 (-3.255, 4.115)	-2.214(-7.032, 2.604)
below_uppersecondary_edu	6.163^{***} $(4.374, 7.952)$	0.512(-2.530, 3.554)	11.355^{***} (4.547, 18.162)	$-9.169^{**}(-15.492, -2.846)$
Constant	18.492*** (13.371, 23.613)	15.831^{***} (7.078, 24.584)	29.563^{**} (9.618, 49.507)	16.714(-12.417, 45.844)
Observations	2,722	2,075	276	371
Log Likelihood	-1,537.719	-1,029.046	-152.229	-202.751
Akaike Inf. Crit.	3,097.437	2,080.092	326.457	427.503
Note:				*p<0.1; **p<0.05; ***p<0.01

Table 4.1: Impact of Factfulness Across Electoral Systems Constituency Level

Table 3 Relevance of Factfulness Constituency Level



Figure 20 Upper 1 Level Fact-Insensitiveness



Figure 21 Upper 1 Level Fact-Insensitiveness and Alignment Distribution

At the Upper 1 level (N=1177), there are not many differences between majoritarian and proportional representation systems in comparison to the previous plots. Surprisingly, it seems like the already weak correlation waned down in strength as both boxplots are most similar in shape and medians. However, there is a significant difference between PR and SMD systems. Majoritarian systems show an increase of seats with higher degrees of fact-insensitiveness; however, this did not increase the number of misaligned seats. On the other hand, looking at mixed systems there is a clear increase in misaligned seats that positively correlated with fact-insensitiveness. Looking at Table 4 shows a clear P-Value < 0.01 which denotes high statistical significance. This can be interpreted in two ways, whether the misalignment mechanisms at play have a greater impact at the Upper 1 level or if there is true causal significance at play.

		Dependent variable:		
		alignment		
	Means	Majoritarian	Proportional	Mixed
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
fact_in3	-0.115(-0.299, 0.068)	-0.052 (-0.244, 0.140)	0.974^{*} $(0.149, 1.799)$	-0.390(-0.881, 0.101)
sdex2	0.001 (-0.002, 0.004)	-0.003 $(-0.009, 0.002)$	0.010^{***} (0.004, 0.017)	0.039^{***} (0.019, 0.059)
depen_ratio	$-0.866^{***}(-1.256, -0.476)$	$-0.470^{*}(-0.900, -0.041)$	0.610(-1.315, 2.535)	-0.598 $(-2.075, 0.879)$
lifeexpect	-0.047^{***} $(-0.061, -0.032)$	$-0.035^{***}(-0.054, -0.017)$	-0.079^{**} $(-0.139, -0.018)$	-0.076(-0.166, 0.014)
gdp_percapita2019	$-0.00000^{***}(-0.0001, -0.0000)$	0.00000 (-0.00000, 0.00000)	0.00000(-0.00000, 0.00001)	-0.0000 (-0.0001 , 0.0000)
excessdeath	0.040^{*} (0.003, 0.077)	-0.004 (-0.051 , 0.042)	-0.231^{***} $(-0.368, -0.095)$	0.011 (-0.092, 0.113)
disposable_income2019	0.00001^{***} ($0.00000, 0.00001$)	-0.0001^{*} (-0.0003 , -0.0000)	0.0001 (-0.0000, 0.00002)	0.0003 (-0.0002, 0.0001)
primary_income_percapita2019	0.00000(-0.00000, 0.00001)	0.00002** (0.00001, 0.00003)	-0.0001 (-0.0002 , 0.0001)	0.0000 (-0.0003, 0.0004)
tertiary_edu	1.265^{***} (0.971, 1.558)	-0.368(-0.830, 0.095)	-0.264(-1.341, 0.812)	-0.392 $(-1.573, 0.790)$
below.uppersecondary.edu	-0.028 (-0.513 , 0.458)	$-0.761^{*}(-1.420, -0.102)$	1.025(-0.662, 2.711)	$-1.649^{*}(-3.084, -0.214)$
Constant	4.052*** (2.814, 5.291)	4.016^{***} (2.308, 5.725)	6.015^{**} (1.445, 10.584)	3.965(-2.619, 10.550)
Observations	1,177	728	171	278
Log Likelihood	-577.655	-181.605	-113.613	-171.411
Akaike Inf. Crit.	1,177.310	385.210	249.226	364.822
Note:				*p<0.1; **p<0.05; ***p<0.01

Table 4.2: Impact of Factfulness Across Electoral Systems Upper 1 Level

Table 4 Relevance of Factfulness Upper 1 Level



Figure 22 Upper 2 Level Fact-Insensitiveness



Figure 23 Upper 2 Level Fact-Insensitiveness and Alignment Distribution

The Upper 2 level (N=798) generated significant changes for all three systems. For majoritarian systems, their centrality became more pronounced than any of the previous two plots. Also, despite having the greatest outliers out of the three systems in terms of fact-insensitiveness, it appears that it makes no difference whether the seats of elected representatives are aligned or not. For PR systems things remain the same, though it is worth reminding that proportional representation systems tend to have greater district magnitude, it makes sense that is the one with the least variation. Moreover, countries such as Switzerland, and the Czech Republic are never aggregated into an upper unit until the regional level, though that was not considered for this research. As for mixed systems, they had the greatest change in the number of distribution of seats and became aligned for the most part. In terms of coefficients of correlation,

WEIRD Societies

looking at Table 5 shows a P-Value < 0.01 also denoting a significant statistical relationship between fact-insensitiveness and misalignment. Yet, considering that the greatest dispersion along with misalignment is for PR systems it denotes contradicting evidence to the previous unit of analysis where the mixed systems had the greatest dispersion of misalignment.

Table 5 Relevance of Factfulness Upper 2 Level

		Dependent variable:		
		alignment		
	Means	Majoritarian	Proportional	Mixed
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
fact_in3	3.590*** (1.433, 5.747)	0.212(-3.062, 3.486)	2.611(-2.068, 7.291)	-6.340(-28.040, 15.359)
sdex2	0.039^{***} $(0.022, 0.057)$	0.052 (-0.029, 0.132)	0.055*** (0.025, 0.085)	0.216(-0.455, 0.886)
depen_ratio	1.411(-1.496, 4.318)	0.363(-3.931, 4.657)	3.720(-6.332, 13.771)	4.683(-34.276, 43.642)
life_expect	-0.318^{***} $(-0.462, -0.175)$	-0.103(-0.367, 0.161)	-0.490^{**} (-0.828 , -0.152)	3.397 (-1.267, 8.061)
gdp_percapita2019	0.0001 (-0.0001, 0.0003)	0.00002 (-0.00002, 0.0001)	0.00002 (-0.0001, 0.00005)	0.00003 (-0.0001, 0.0002)
excessionth	$-0.415^{**}(-0.724, -0.105)$	-0.017 $(-0.557, 0.523)$	$-1.183^{***}(-1.857, -0.510)$	-0.312(-3.167, 2.543)
disposable_income2019	0.00003^{**} (0.0001, 0.0001)	-0.0003(-0.001, 0.00001)	0.00003 (-0.00002, 0.0001)	0.001 (-0.0003, 0.002)
primary_income_percapita2019	0.00004^{**} (0.0001, 0.0001)	0.0003^{**} (0.0001, 0.001)	-0.0003(-0.0001, 0.00002)	0.0001 (-0.0003, 0.0004)
tertiary_edu	0.428 (-2.350, 3.207)	-12.696^{***} $(-19.470, -5.922)$	1.428(-4.302, 7.157)	-43.811^{**} $(-79.628, -7.994)$
below_uppersecondary_edu	-1.674(-5.880, 2.531)	-12.903^{***} $(-20.736, -5.071)$	3.862(-4.154, 11.877)	-20.248(-53.945, 13.449)
Constant	21.304^{***} (9.634, 32.975)	11.503(-12.613, 35.618)	35.499^{**} (10.139, 60.860)	-291.962(-650.396, 66.472)
Observations	798	622	146	30
Log Likelihood	-277.018	-153.610	-90.726	-10.120
Alaike Inf. Crit.	576.036	329.219	203.451	42.241

60



Figure 24 State Level Fact-Insensitiveness



Figure 25 State Level Fact-Insensitiveness and Alignment Distribution

Lastly, looking at the state level in Figures 4.10 and 4.11, it is evident that the misalignment effects are reduced drastically for all three systems. Particularly, it is surprising to see majoritarian systems with lower dispersion of misalignment than PR systems. More interestingly, majoritarian systems at the state level have a higher degree of fact-insensitiveness than those misaligned. In the case of PR systems, the difference is not so drastic, but it is still there. As for mixed systems, where the distribution of the seats is almost identical, denoting no relationship at all.

		Dependent variable:		
		alignment		
	Means	Majoritarian	Proportional	Mixed
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
fact_in3	3.540^{**} (0.786, 6.294)	-0.377 (-6.442 , 5.688)	-0.279 $(-5.780, 5.222)$	-6.340(-28.040, 15.359)
sdex2	0.031^{***} (0.012, 0.050)	-0.117 $(-0.250, 0.017)$	0.086^{***} (0.042, 0.131)	0.216(-0.455, 0.886)
depen_ratio	2.920(-2.524, 8.363)	1.201 (-8.921, 11.323)	0.511(-10.870, 11.892)	4.683 (-34.276 , 43.642)
life_expect	-0.248^{**} (-0.447 , -0.049)	-0.276(-0.775, 0.224)	-0.417^{*} (-0.816 , -0.018)	3.397 (-1.267, 8.061)
gdp-percapita2019	0.00004^{**} (0.0001, 0.0001)	0.0001^{*} (0.00002 , 0.0002)	0.00003 (-0.0001, 0.0001)	0.00003 (-0.0001, 0.0002)
excessdeath	$-0.452^{*}(-0.879, -0.024)$	-0.052(-1.178, 1.073)	-1.282^{***} $(-2.086, -0.478)$	-0.312 (-3.167 , 2.543)
disposable_income2019	0.00002 (-0.0001, 0.00005)	0.0003 (-0.0003, 0.001)	-0.0001(-0.0001, 0.0004)	0.001 (-0.0003, 0.002)
primary_income_percapita2019	-0.0000(-0.0003, 0.0003)	-0.0003 $(-0.001, 0.0003)$	-0.0004(-0.0001, 0.0001)	0.0001 (-0.0003, 0.0004)
tertiary_edu	-3.318(-7.274, 0.637)	-12.202(-24.437, 0.032)	-0.983(-8.448, 6.482)	-43.811^{**} (-79.628 , -7.994)
below-uppersecondary-edu	0.364(-5.452, 6.180)	-11.720(-25.602, 2.162)	2.675(-6.955, 12.305)	-20.248 $(-53.945, 13.449)$
Constant	16.657^{*} (0.791, 32.522)	30.986(-12.686, 74.659)	32.174^{+} (1.980, 62.368)	-291.962(-650.396, 66.472)
Observations	228	16	107	30
Log Likelihood	-127.981	-37.511	-64.067	-10.120
Akaike Inf. Crit.	277.963	97.021	150.134	42.241
Note:				*p<0.1; **p<0.05; ***p<0.01

Table 6 Relevance of Factfulness State Level

Level	
State	
Systems	
Electoral	
Across	
Factfulness	
of	
Impact	
1.4:	
Table 4	

Fact-Insensitiveness and Electoral Alignment

Considering the findings of the empirical descriptive analysis of this research it is now possible to answer the initial hypotheses. First, concerning proportional representation systems, the results fail to reject the null hypothesis and thus do not show any significant relationship between fact-insensitiveness and alignment. Second, concerning majoritarian systems, the results also fail to reject the null hypothesis and do not show any statistically significant relationship between fact-insensitiveness and alignment. For both systems this is true at all four levels of analysis and, thus, does not posit any normative or empirical claim in favor of one or the other. Regarding mixed systems the relationship is clear. In the first two levels of analysis, Upper 1 and Upper 2, mixed systems show strong statistical significance supporting the positive correlation between alignment and fact-insensitiveness. However, at both the constituency and state levels, this relationship did not exist. This suggests that the geographical configuration of the units may render more importance to the independent variable. Though, considering this positive association was only for two levels of analysis across the total twelve possible it bears to question the significance of the result.

Also, looking at the patterns that each electoral system followed in terms of alignment, irrespective of the degree of fact-insensitiveness brings support to the already existing literature on the advantages of PR systems over majoritarian ones at the constituency level. However, it is also clear that these benefits cancel out as moving up into greater units of analysis. On the other hand, it was surprising to see the pattern of alignment and misalignment of mixed systems.

In sum, it is worth considering that the main focus of this research was to discern the mechanistic structural effects that might have interacted with degrees of fact-insensitiveness. In the academic literature on misalignment, it is clear that there are other causes of misalignment that have an impact. For, the crux of this analysis was to infer with statistical certainty if fact-insensitiveness could play a role. Even more so, considering that this measurement considered all the inhabitants in the respective unit of analysis and other measures of misalignment do not do so. In sum, there is a need for addressing misalignment in the different electoral systems, but at the very least, the rise of fake news does not raise pressures for choosing a system type or the other. In the counterfactual possibility that there would have been a strong statistical relationship for one system or the other that would have provided sufficient grounds for choosing an alternative one.

WEIRD Societies

Chapter 5 Conclusion

Over the last decades, the debate over the relevance of electoral systems for the accomplishment of the democratic ideal has grown in tandem with the challenges posed to liberal democracies. On the one hand, it appears that one strand of the literature is overly focused on refining electoral designs to achieve the ideal system for making democracy bulletproof. Though, this has seldom been the case. On the other hand, on the normative side of the debate, it also appears that the conceptual debates around the proper definitions of democracy will not die out anytime soon. Especially with the revival orchestrated byJean-Paul Gagnon in the ECPR (ECPR, 2022). Nevertheless, at the intersection of both of these, along with electoral law, the alignment approach proposed by Stephanopoulos (2014) offers a normatively compelling case for assessing the quality of democracy. As empirically shown by this thesis, it holds relevance beyond its original use case in the United States.

Moreover, results from this thesis have significant relevance to these academic debates. On the one hand, concerning the debate about electoral systems it is clear from the research results that, despite producing significantly different electoral outcomes, all three appear to be insulated from the effects of individual fact-insensitiveness. This is positive news, for those living in democracies and that are worried about the rise of fake news and misinformation because, at the very least, it will not exacerbate electoral misalignment. Moreover, given that no system outperformed the other, this research also does not give any normative gains or losses to any of the electoral systems.

Additionally, this research contributed methodologically by incorporating psychologically relevant variables when doing comparative politics. First, there are potential gains to be made from broadening the research horizon to analyze relationships that might lay outside the traditional searching ground, which can lead to otherwise missed findings. On the other hand, it is also possible that these new avenues of research redirect our attention to more causally relevant variables. For, one of the key contributions of this thesis is the failure to reject the null hypotheses stated at the beginning of this research. In light of this, one can say that there is a nonsignificant difference in the electoral system of choice with regards to fact-insensitiveness. Instead, it is safe

to assume that is no significant risk in terms of misalignment for preferring any of the three studied electoral system types.

However, the novelty and interdisciplinary approach employed here also came with its own set of methodological challenges. For, there are at least two key limitations to consider. First, it is not widespread to have comparable and interoperable units of analysis that can readily transfer across research fields. For instance, in electoral studies one of the basic units of analysis is electoral districts or constituencies, however, public health data and economic or demographic data might not exist in this unit or might have their own units. By the same token, it is also plausible that there is data on electoral districts that do not always correspond to any of the aforementioned fields. Second, data accessibility can also vary significantly across countries' government offices complicating the possibility of cross-country comparisons. This aspect is crucial for advancing a more collaborative way of doing research that can be across disciplinary boundaries.

Lastly, the conceptualization of two additional misalignment types at the end of the literature review (Fig. 4) is a key contribution of this thesis obscured by its second nature to the main research question. By opening up the space for multiple levels of alignment across jurisdictions, it offers multiple possibilities for new research. For instance, if there is a contested topic within a polity (such as conservation policy) one could easily define the most relevant unit of analysis for estimating alignment (as long as is above the district level) between the median preferences of the people and those elected pertaining to that specific unit of analysis. In geometrical terms, it opens up a novel axis of analysis.

References

- Akartunalı, Kerem, and Philip A Knight. 2016. "Network Models and Biproportional Rounding for Fair Seat Allocations in the UK Elections." *Annals of Operations Research* 253 (1): 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10479-016-2323-0.
- Alamillo, Rudy. 2019. "Hispanics Para Trump? Denial of Racism and Hispanic Support for Trump." *Du Bois Review* 16 (2): 457–87. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1742058X19000328.
- Alemanno, Alberto. 2020. "Europe's Democracy Challenge: Citizen Participation in and Beyond Elections." *German Law Journal* 21 (1): 35–40. https://doi.org/10.1017/glj.2019.92.
- Alexeev, Boris, and Dustin G. Mixon. 2018. "Partisan Gerrymandering with Geographically Compact Districts." *Journal of Applied Probability* 55 (4): 1046–59. https://doi.org/10.1017/jpr.2018.70.
- Altman, Micah, Brian Amos, Michael P. McDonald, and Daniel A. Smith. 2015. "Revealing Preferences: Why Gerrymanders Are Hard to Prove, and What to Do about It." SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2583528.
- Anderson, Dylan S. J. 2022. "The 'Tipping Point' of a Strategic Vote: When Does an Individual Vote Strategically?" *Canadian Journal of Political Science*, June, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0008423922000312.
- Ansolabehere, Stephen, James M. Snyder, and Charles III Stewart. 2001a. "Candidate Positioning in U.S. House Elections." *American Journal of Political Science* 45 (1): 136. https://doi.org/10.2307/2669364.
- ———. 2001b. "The Effects of Party and Preferences on Congressional Roll-Call Voting." *Legislative Studies Quarterly* 26 (4): 533. https://doi.org/10.2307/440269.
- Arnett, Jeffrey J. 2008. "The Neglected 95%: Why American Psychology Needs to Become Less American." *American Psychologist* 63 (7): 602–14. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.63.7.602.
- Bafumi, Joseph, and Michael C. Herron. 2010. "Leapfrog Representation and Extremism: A Study of American Voters and Their Members in Congress." *American Political Science Review* 104 (3): 519–42. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003055410000316.
- Baker, Monya. 2016. "1,500 Scientists Lift the Lid on Reproducibility." *Nature* 533 (7604): 452–54. https://doi.org/10.1038/533452a.
- BBC. 2021. "Donald Trump: 'I Just Want to Find 11,780 Votes."" *BBC News*, January 3, 2021. https://www.bbc.com/news/av/world-us-canada-55524676.
- Bechtel, Michael M., and Lukas Schmid. 2021. "Electoral Reforms and the Representativeness of Turnout." *Political Science Research and Methods* 9 (3): 485–99. https://doi.org/10.1017/psrm.2020.20.
- Benedictis-Kessner, Justin de, and Maxwell Palmer. 2021. "Driving Turnout: The Effect of Car Ownership on Electoral Participation." *Political Science Research and Methods*, December, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1017/psrm.2021.67.
- Bennett, A., & Checkel, J. 2014. Process tracing: From philosophical roots to best practices. In A. Bennett & J. Checkel (Eds.), Process Tracing: From Metaphor to Analytic Tool (Strategies for Social Inquiry, pp. 3-38). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139858472.003.

- Bessette, Joseph M. 1994. *The Mild Voice of Reason : Deliberative Democracy and American National Government*. Book. American Politics and Political Economy Series. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Bherer, Laurence, Pascale Dufour, and Françoise Montambeault. 2016. "The Participatory Democracy Turn: An Introduction." *Journal of Civil Society* 12 (3): 225–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/17448689.2016.1216383.
- Blais, André, and Marc André Bodet. 2006. "Does Proportional Representation Foster Closer Congruence Between Citizens and Policy Makers?" *Comparative Political Studies* 39 (10): 1243–62. https://doi.org/10.1177/0010414005284374.
- Boese, Vanessa A., Staffan I. Lindberg, and Anna Lührmann. 2021. "Waves of Autocratization and Democratization: A Rejoinder." *Democratization* 28 (6): 1202–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/13510347.2021.1923006.
- Bol, Damien. 2016. "Electoral Reform, Values and Party Self-Interest." *Party Politics* 22 (1): 93–104. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354068813511590.
- Budge, Ian, and Richard C. Fording. 2001. *Mapping Policy Preferences : Estimates for Parties, Electors, and Governments, 1945-1998*. Book. Edited by Ian Budge and Richard C Fording. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Burtenshaw, Claude J. 1968. "The Political Theory of Pluralist Democracy." *The Western Political Quarterly* 21 (4): 577. https://doi.org/10.2307/446749.
- Butzlaff, Felix, and Sören Messinger-Zimmer. 2020. "Undermining or Defending Democracy? The Consequences of Distrust for Democratic Attitudes and Participation." *Critical Policy Studies* 14 (3): 249–66. https://doi.org/10.1080/19460171.2019.1584120.
- Cain, E Bruce. 2014. "Fair Representation." In *Democracy More or Less*, 118–43. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139600545.006.
- Carter, Cyril. 1982. "Some Properties of Divisor Methods for Legislative Apportionment and Proportional Representation." *American Political Science Review* 76 (3): 575–84. https://doi.org/10.2307/1963732.
- Cleen, Benjamin de. 2017. "Populism, Exclusion, Post-Truth. Some Conceptual Caveats Comment on 'The Rise of Post-Truth Populism in Pluralist Liberal Democracies: Challenges for Health Policy."" *International Journal of Health Policy and Management* 7 (3): 268–71. https://doi.org/10.15171/ijhpm.2017.80.
- Cohen, Joshua. 2007. "Deliberative Democracy." In *Deliberation, Participation and Democracy*, 219–36. London: Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230591080_10.
- Collier, David, Fernando Daniel Hidalgo, and Andra Olivia Maciuceanu. 2006. "Essentially Contested Concepts: Debates and Applications." *Journal of Political Ideologies* 11 (3): 211–46. https://doi.org/10.1080/13569310600923782.
- Collier, Ruth Berins. 1999. *Paths toward Democracy*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511625626.
- Coser, Lewis A. 1957. "Social Conflict and the Theory of Social Change." *The British Journal of Sociology* 8 (3): 197. https://doi.org/10.2307/586859.
- Cox, Gary W. 1997. *Making Votes Count : Strategic Coordination in the World's Electoral Systems*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139174954.

- Cusack, Thomas R., Torben Iversen, and David Soskice. 2007. "Economic Interests and the Origins of Electoral Systems." *American Political Science Review* 101 (3): 373–91. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003055407070384.
- Dahl, Robert A. 1956. *A Preface to Democratic Theory*. Book. Charles R. Walgreen Foundation Lectures 822397617. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- ——. 1982. *Dilemmas of Pluralist Democracy : Autonomy vs. Control*. Book. Yale Studies in Political Science ; 31. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Diamond, Alexis, and Jasjeet S. Sekhon. 2013. "Genetic Matching for Estimating Causal Effects: A General Multivariate Matching Method for Achieving Balance in Observational Studies." *The Review of Economics and Statistics* 95 (3): 932–45. https://doi.org/10.1162/REST A 00318.
- Diamond, Larry. 2020. "America's COVID-19 Disaster Is a Setback for Democracy The Atlantic." *The Atlantic*, April 16, 2020. https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/archive/2020/04/americas-covid-19-disaster-setback-democracy/610102/.
- Diamond, Larry Jay. 2019. Ill Winds : Saving Democracy from Russian Rage, Chinese Ambition, and American Complacency. Book.
- Dow, Jay K. 2011. "Party-System Extremism in Majoritarian and Proportional Electoral Systems." *British Journal of Political Science* 41 (2): 341–61. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007123410000360.
- Eck, L van, SE Visagie, and HC de Kock. 2005. "Fairness of Seat Allocation Methods in Proportional Representation." *Orion (Johannesburg, South Africa)* 21 (2): 93. https://doi.org/10.5784/21-2-22.
- ECPR. 2022. "The Science of Democracy." The Loop. 2022.
- Eggers, Andrew C., and Nick Vivyan. 2020. "Who Votes More Strategically?" *American Political Science Review* 114 (2): 470–85. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003055419000820.
- Elmendorf, Christopher. 2008. "Undue Burdens on Voter Participation: New Pressures for a Structural Theory of the Right to Vote?" *Hastings Constitutional Law Quarterly* 35: 643–712.
- Ercan, Selen A., and Jean-Paul Gagnon. 2014. "The Crisis of Democracy: Which Crisis? Which Democracy?" *Democratic Theory* 1 (2): 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3167/dt.2014.010201.
- Ezrow, Lawrence. 2010. *Linking Citizens and Parties*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199572526.001.0001.
- Ezrow, Lawrence, and Werner Krause. 2022. "Voter Turnout Decline and Party Responsiveness." *British Journal of Political Science*, February, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007123421000673.
- Farkas, Johan, and Jannick Schou. 2019. "Post-Truth, Fake News and Democracy: Mapping the Politics of Falsehood." *Post-Truth, Fake News and Democracy: Mapping the Politics of Falsehood*, January, 1–166. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429317347.
- Ferrara, Federico. 2005. *Mixed Electoral Systems: Contamination and Its Consequences*. Book. Edited by Erik S Herron and Misa Nishikawa. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Ferrera, Maurizio. 2018. "Mass Democracy, the Welfare State and European Integration: A Neo-Weberian Analysis:" *European Journal of Social Theory* 23 (2): 165–83. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368431018779176.
- Foa, Roberto, and Mounk Yascha. 2017. "The Signs of Deconsolidation." *Journal of Democracy* 28 (1): 5–16.
- Franchino, Fabio, Mark A. Kayser, and Christopher Wratil. 2022. "Electoral Competitiveness and Responsiveness: Rational Anticipation in the EU Council." *Journal of European Public Policy* 29 (1): 42–60. https://doi.org/10.1080/13501763.2021.1991986.

- Fraser, Nancy. 1990. "Rethinking the Public Sphere: A Contribution to the Critique of Actually Existing Democracy." *Social Text* 25–26 (25/26): 56–80. https://doi.org/10.2307/466240.
- Freedom House. 2022. "List of Electoral Democracies FIW 2022 ." *Freedom House*. https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-world.
- Frödin Gruneau, Moa. 2020. "Assortative Mating and Turnout: A Self-Reinforcing Pattern of Unequal Voting Participation." *European Political Science Review* 12 (2): 155–71. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1755773920000016.
- Ganghof, Steffen. 2016. "Reconciling Representation and Accountability: Three Visions of Democracy Compared." *Government and Opposition* 51 (2): 209–33. https://doi.org/10.1017/gov.2015.15.
- Gelman, Andrew, and Gary King. 1994. "Enhancing Democracy Through Legislative Redistricting." *American Political Science Review* 88: 541–59.
- Gerring, John. 2004. "What Is a Case Study and What Is It Good For?" *American Political Science Review* 98 (2): 341–54. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003055404001182.
- Ghins, Arthur. 2022. "Representative Democracy versus Government by Opinion." *The Journal of Politics* 84 (3): 1623–37. https://doi.org/10.1086/717261.
- Golder, Matt, and Jacek Stramski. 2010. "Ideological Congruence and Electoral Institutions." *American Journal of Political Science* 54 (1): 90–106. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1540-5907.2009.00420.X.
- Graham, Matthew H., and Milan W. Svolik. 2020. "Democracy in America? Partisanship, Polarization, and the Robustness of Support for Democracy in the United States." *American Political Science Review* 114 (2): 392–409. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003055420000052.
- Guest, Olivia, Frank J. Kanayet, and Bradley C. Love. 2019. "Gerrymandering and Computational Redistricting." *Journal of Computational Social Science* 2 (2): 119–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42001-019-00053-9.
- Habermas, Jürgen. 1989. *The Structural Transformation of the Public Sphere : An Inquiry into a Category of Bourgeois Society*. Book. Edited by Thomas Burger. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Hales, Roland Oliver, and Sergio García. 2019. "Congress Seat Allocation Using Mathematical Optimization." Article. *TOP* 27 (3): 426–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11750-019-00515-3.
- Hamilton, Alexander, James Madison, and JohnHG Jay. 1961. *The Federalist*. Book. Edited by Jacob Ernest Cooke. Reprint 2014. The John Harvard Library. Middletown, Conn.: Harvard University Press. https://doi.org/10.4159/harvard.9780674332133.
- Henrich, Joseph. 2020. *The WEIRDness People in the World: How the West Became Psychologically Peculiar and Particularly Prosperous*. New York: Farrar Strauss and Giroux.
- Henrich, Joseph, Steven J. Heine, and Ara Norenzayan. 2010a. "The Weirdest People in the World?" *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 33 (2–3): 61–83. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X0999152X.
 2010b. "Most People Are Not WEIRD." *Nature* 466 (7302): 29–29. https://doi.org/10.1038/466029a.
- Ho, Daniel E., Kosuke Imai, Gary King, and Elizabeth A. Stuart. 2011. "MatchIt: Nonparametric Preprocessing for Parametric Causal Inference." *Journal of Statistical Software* 42 (8): 1–28. https://doi.org/10.18637/JSS.V042.I08.
- Huber, John D, and G Bingham Powell. 1994. "Congruence between Citizens and Policymakers in Two Visions of Liberal Democracy." *World Politics*, 46 (3): 291-326. https://doi.org/10.2307/2950684.
- Issacharoff, Samuel, and Richard H Pildes. 1999. "Not by 'Election Law' Alone." *Loyola of Los Angeles Law Review* 32 (4): 1173. https://digitalcommons.lmu.edu/llr/vol32/iss4/12.

- Jahn, Detlef. 2011. "Conceptualizing Left and Right in Comparative Politics." *Party Politics* 17 (6): 745–65. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354068810380091.
- Jastramskis, Mažvydas. 2019. "Effects of the Mixed Parallel Electoral System in Lithuania: The Worst of All Worlds?" *Parliamentary Affairs* 72 (3): 561–87. https://doi.org/10.1093/PA/GSY030.
- Jonathan, Allen. 2022. "Say the Election Was Corrupt': Jan. 6 Panel Details Trump's DOJ Pressure Campaign." *NBC News*, 2022. https://www.nbcnews.com/politics/congress/january-6-hearing-trump-pressured-justice-undermine-election-rcna34804.
- Karlan, Pamela S. 1992. "Rights To Vote: Some Pessimism about Formalism." *Texas Law Review* 71. https://heinonline.org/HOL/Page?handle=hein.journals/tlr71&id=1725&div=&collection=.
- Kessler, Anke S. 2005. "Representative versus Direct Democracy: The Role of Informational Asymmetries on JSTOR." *Public Choice* 122 (1/2): 9–38. https://www.jstor.org/stable/30026671.
- King, Gary. 1990. "Electoral Responsiveness and Partisan Bias in Multiparty Democracies." Article. *Legislative Studies Quarterly* 15 (2): 159–81. https://doi.org/10.2307/440124.
- Kollman, Ken, Allen Hicken, Daniele Caramani, David Backer, and David Lublin. 2020. CLEA Lower Chamber Elections Archive. University of Michigan [Producer and Distributor]. Release 14. Ann Arbor, MI: Center for Political Studies. https://electiondataarchive.org/data-and-documentation/clealower-chamber-elections-archive/.
- Levitsky, Steven. 2003. *Transforming Labor-Based Parties in Latin America*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511615641.
- Levitsky, Steven, and Lucan A. Way. 2010. *Competitive Authoritarianism: Hybrid Regimes after the Cold War*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511781353.
- Lieberman, Evan S. 2009. *Boundaries of Contagion: How Ethnic Politics Have Shaped Government Responses to AIDS.* Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- ———. 2005. "Nested Analysis as a Mixed-Method Strategy for Comparative Research." *American Political Science Review*, *99(3)*, *435-452*. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003055405051762.

Lieberman, Evan S. 2015. "Nested Analysis: Toward the Integration of Comparative-Historical Analysis with Other Social Science Methods." In *Advances in Comparative-Historical Analysis*, 240–63. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781316273104.010.

Lijphart, A. 2012. *Patterns of Democracy: Government Forms and Performance in Thirty-Six Countries*. (2nd Edition). New Haven: Yale University Press. https://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt32bg23.

- Lincoln, Abraham. 1863. "The Gettysburg Address ." *The Story of Abraham Lincoln*. The National Archives.
- Linz, Juan J., and Alfred Stepan. 1981. "The Breakdown of Democratic Regimes." *Ethics* 91 (4): 685–87. https://doi.org/10.1086/292289.
- Lippmann, Walter. 1997. Public Opinion. New York: Free Press Paperbacks.
- Lührmann, Anna, and Staffan I. Lindberg. 2019. "A Third Wave of Autocratization Is Here: What Is New about It?" *Democratization* 26 (7): 1095–1113. https://doi.org/10.1080/13510347.2019.1582029.
- Luo, Zhaotian, and Adam Przeworski. 2019. "Subversion by Stealth: Dynamics of Democratic Backsliding." *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3469373.
- Mahoney, James. 2010. Colonialism and Postcolonial Development: Spanish America in Comparative Perspective. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511750328.
- Manin, Bernard. 1997. *The Principles of Representative Government*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511659935.

- Mann, Michael. 1984. "The Autonomous Power of the State: Its Origins, Mechanisms and Results." *European Journal of Sociology* 25 (2): 185–213. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003975600004239.
- Mansbridge, Jane. 2003. "Rethinking Representation." Article. *The American Political Science Review* 97 (4): 515–28. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003055403000856.
- McDonald, Michael D., Silvia M. Mendes, and Ian Budge. 2004. "What Are Elections For? Conferring the Median Mandate." *British Journal of Political Science* 34 (1): 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007123403000322.
- McDonald, Michael P. 2007. "Regulating Redistricting." *PS: Political Science & Politics* 40 (04): 675–79. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049096507071077.
- McEvoy, Caroline. 2016. "Does the Descriptive Representation of Women Matter? A Comparison of Gendered Differences in Political Attitudes between Voters and Representatives in the European Parliament." *Politics & Gender* 12 (04): 754–80. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1743923X16000118.
- McGann, A., C., Smith, M., Latner, and A. Keena. 2016. "Measuring Partisan Bias." In *Gerrymandering in America*, Keena, Alex, 56–96. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781316534342.003.
- Mill, John Stuart. 2017. On Liberty. Auckland: The Floating Press.
- Mölder, Martin. 2016. "The Validity of the RILE Left–Right Index as a Measure of Party Policy." *Party Politics* 22 (1): 37–48. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354068813509525.
- Mouffe, Chantal. 2007. "Carl Schmitt's Warning on the Dangers of a Unipolar World." In *The International Political Thought of Carl Schmitt: Terror, Liberal War and the Crisis of Global Order*, edited by Fabio Petito and Louiza Odysseos, 1st ed., 147–53. London: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203964149.
- Mudde, Cas. 2004. "The Populist Zeitgeist." *Government and Opposition* 39 (4): 541–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1477-7053.2004.00135.x.
- ------. 2016. "Europe's Populist Surge: A Long Time in the Making." *Foreign Affairs* 95 (6): 25–30. https://www.jstor.org/stable/43948378?seq=1#metadata info tab contents.
- Muthukrishna, Michael, Adrian v. Bell, Joseph Henrich, Cameron M. Curtin, Alexander Gedranovich, Jason McInerney, and Braden Thue. 2020. "Beyond Western, Educated, Industrial, Rich, and Democratic (WEIRD) Psychology: Measuring and Mapping Scales of Cultural and Psychological Distance." *Psychological Science* 31 (6): 678–701. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797620916782.
- Nielsen, Richard A. 2013. "Rewarding Human Rights? Selective Aid Sanctions against Repressive States." *International Studies Quarterly* 57 (4): 791–803. https://doi.org/10.1111/isqu.12049.
- ———. 2016. "Case Selection via Matching." Sociological Methods and Research 45 (3): 569–97. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124114547054.
- Pashler, Harold, and Eric–Jan Wagenmakers. 2012. "Editors' Introduction to the Special Section on Replicability in Psychological Science." *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 7 (6): 528–30. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691612465253.
- Pech, Laurent, and Kim Lane Scheppele. 2017. "Illiberalism Within: Rule of Law Backsliding in the EU." *Cambridge Yearbook of European Legal Studies* 19 (December): 3–47. https://doi.org/10.1017/CEL.2017.9.
- Pierson, Paul. 2004. *Politics in Time*. Princeton: Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctt7sgkg.
- Pierzgalski, Michał. 2018. "Balancing Disproportionality and Parliament Fragmentation: A Simulation Study of the Mechanical Effects of District Magnitude on Electoral Outcomes." *Electoral Studies* 54 (August): 205–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electstud.2018.06.006.
- Pitkin, Hanna Fenichel. 1967. *The Concept of Representation*. Book. [10th printing]. Berkeley: University of California Press. https://doi.org/10.1525/9780520340503.
- Posner, Richard A. 2003. *Law, Pragmatism, and Democracy*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press. https://doi.org/10.4159/9780674042292.
- Powell, G. Bingham. 2000. *Elections as Instruments of Democracy: Majoritarian and Proportional Visions*. New Haven: Yale University Press.
 - ——. 2004. "Political Representation in Comparative Politics" 7 (May): 273–96. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.POLISCI.7.012003.104815.
- PPEG. 2022. "Database : Political Parties, Presidents, Elections, and Governments." *WZB Berlin Social Science Center*. Berlin: WZB Berlin Social Science Center. https://ppeg.wzb.eu/.
- Prosser, Christopher, and Jonatha Mellon. 2018. "The Twilight of the Polls? A Review of Trends in Polling Accuracy and the Causes of Polling Misses." *Government and Opposition* 53 (4): 757–90. https://doi.org/10.1017/gov.2018.7.
- Przeworski, Adam, Susan Carol, Stokes, and Bernard, Manin. 1999. *Democracy, Accountability, and Representation*. Book. Edited by Adam Przeworski, Susan Carol Stokes, and Bernard Manin. New York: New York University.
- Raleigh, Clionadh, Andrew Linke, Håvard Hegre, and Joakim Karlsen. 2010. "Introducing ACLED: An Armed Conflict Location and Event Dataset." *Journal of Peace Research* 47 (5): 651–60. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343310378914.
- Ritchie, Hannah, Edouard Mathieu, Lucas Rodés-Guirao, Cameron Appel, Charlie Giattino, Esteban Ortiz-Ospina, Joe Hasell, Bobbie Macdonald, Diana Beltekian, and Max Roser. 2020. "Coronavirus Pandemic (COVID-19)." *Our World in Data*. https://ourworldindata.org/coronavirus#citation.
- Rodrigues Sanches, Edalina. 2022. "Why Study African Democracy? ." In *PhD Confessions From Democracy Scholars, Students, and Supporters*, edited by Christian Ewert and Lea Heyne, 23–27. Norderstedt: DemocracyNet.
- Rosanvallon, Pierre, and Arthur Goldhammer. 2008. *Counter-Democracy: Politics in an Age of Distrust*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511755835.
- Rubin, Donald B. 2007. "The Designversus the Analysis of Observational Studies for Causal Effects: Parallels with the Design of Randomized Trials." *Statistics in Medicine* 26 (1): 20–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.2739.
- Saffon, Maria Paula, and Nadia Urbinati. 2013. "Procedural Democracy, the Bulwark of Equal Liberty." *Political Theory* 41 (3): 441–81. https://doi.org/10.1177/0090591713476872.
- Schulz, Jonathan, Duman Bahrami Rad, Jonathan Beauchamp, and Joseph Henrich. 2019. "The Church, Intensive Kinship, and Global Psychological Variation." *Dryad*. https://doi.org/10.5061/dryad.2rbnzs7hs.
- Schulz, Jonathan, Duman Bahrami-Rad, Jonathan Beauchamp, and Joseph Henrich. 2018. "The Origins of WEIRD Psychology." https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/d6qhu.
- Schulz, Jonathan F. 2022. "Kin-Networks and Institutional Development." *SSRN Electronic Journal*, September. https://doi.org/10.2139/SSRN.2877828.

- Schulz, Jonathan F., Duman Bahrami-Rad, Jonathan P. Beauchamp, and Joseph Henrich. 2019. "The Church, Intensive Kinship, and Global Psychological Variation." *Science* 366 (6466). https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.AAU5141/SUPPL FILE/AAU5141 SCHULZ SM.PDF.
- Schumpeter, Joseph Alois. 2010. *Capitalism, Socialism and Democracy*. Book. Edited by Joseph E. Stiglitz. Routledge Classics. New York: Routledge.
- Schuster, Karsten, Friedrich Pukelsheim, Mathias Drton, and Norman R. Draper. 2003. "Seat Biases of Apportionment Methods for Proportional Representation." *Electoral Studies* 22 (4): 651–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0261-3794(02)00027-6.
- Schwingenschlogl, U, and M Drton. 2004. "Seat Allocation Distributions and Seat Biases of Stationary Apportionment Methods for Proportional Representation." Article. *Metrika* 60 (2): 191–202. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001840400347.
- Sekhon, Jasjeet S. 2011. "Multivariate and Propensity Score Matching Software with Automated Balance Optimization: The Matching Package for R." *Journal of Statistical Software* 42 (7): 1–52. https://doi.org/10.18637/JSS.V042.I07.
- Singer, Matthew, and Zachary Gershman. 2018. "Do Changes in District Magnitude Affect Electoral Fragmentation? Evidence over Time at the District Level." *Electoral Studies* 54 (August): 172–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electstud.2018.06.003.
- Skocpol, Theda. 1979. *States and Social Revolutions*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511815805.
- Speed, Ewen, and Russell Mannion. 2017. "The Rise of Post-Truth Populism in Pluralist Liberal Democracies: Challenges for Health Policy." *International Journal of Health Policy and Management* 6 (5): 249–51. https://doi.org/10.15171/ijhpm.2017.19.
- Steiner, Jürg. 2012. *The Foundations of Deliberative Democracy*. Book. Key Concepts in Political Theory. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139057486.
- Stephanopoulos, Nicholas O. 2014. "Elections and Alignment." *Columbia Law Review* 114 (2): 283–365. https://www.jstor.org/stable/23622643.
- Stephanopoulos, Nicholas O., and Eric M. McGhee. 2015. "Partisan Gerrymandering and the Efficiency Gap." *University of Chicago Law Review* 82 (2): 831–900.
- Sykes, Alan O. 1993. "An Introduction to Regression Analysis." No. 20. Chicago.
- Tam, Waikeung. 2019. "Political Representation of Racial Minorities in the Parliament of Singapore." *Japanese Journal of Political Science* 20 (4): 225–39. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1468109919000094.
- Thelen, Kathleen. 2004. *How Institutions Evolve: The Political Economy of Skills in Germany, Britain, the United States, and Japan. Comparative Historical Analysis in the Social Sciences*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511790997.
- Theuns, Tom. 2022. "The Need for an EU Expulsion Mechanism: Democratic Backsliding and the Failure of Article 7." *Res Publica*, January, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11158-021-09537-w.
- Urbinati, Nadia. 2019. "Political Theory of Populism." *Annual Review of Political Science* 22 (1): 111–27. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-polisci-050317-070753.
- Urbinati, Nadia, and Mark E Warren. 2008. "The Concept of Representation in Contemporary Democratic Theory." *Annual Review of Political Science* 11 (December): 387–412. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.polisci.11.053006.190533.
- Verghese, Ajay. 2013. "Colonialism and Patterns of Ethnic Conflict in Contemporary India Open Access." Doctoral dissertation, Washington DC: The George Washington University.

- Volkens, Andrea, Tobias Burst, Werner Krause, Pola Lehmann, Theres Matthieß, Sven Regel, and Lisa Zehnter. 2021. "The Manifesto Data Collection." *Manifesto Project (MRG/CMP/MARPOR)*. Berlin: Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung (WZB).
- Wang, Yuhua. 2022. "Blood Is Thicker Than Water: Elite Kinship Networks and State Building in Imperial China." *American Political Science Review*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003055421001490.
- Ward, Stephen J. A. 2011. *Ethics and the Media: An Introduction (Cambridge Applied Ethics)*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511977800.
- Watts, Duncan J., David M. Rothschild, and Markus Mobius. 2021. "Measuring the News and Its Impact on Democracy." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 118 (15). https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1912443118.
- Wolfe, Joel D. 1985. "A Defense of Participatory Democracy." *The Review of Politics* 47 (3): 370–89. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0034670500036925.
- Ziblatt, Daniel. 2006. *Structuring the State: The Formation of Italy and Germany and the Puzzle of Federalism*. Princeton University Press.
 - ——. 2017. *Conservative Parties and the Birth of Modern Democracy in Europe*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781139030335.

Annex

Statistic	Ν	Mean	St. Dev.	Min	Max
sdex2	2,726	51.528	10.315	20.370	81.020
depen_ratio	2,726	0.299	0.064	0.050	0.554
life_expect	2,726	81.264	1.760	74.400	85.000
gdp_percapita2019	2,726	47,356.900	16,623.140	11,216.000	$165,\!501.000$
primary_income_percapita2019	2,726	32,083.080	10,985.320	7,667.000	72,906.120
disposable_income2019	2,726	28,285.000	9,834.990	13,874.000	66,130.920
tertiary_edu	2,726	0.441	0.109	0.140	0.680
below_uppersecondary_edu	2,726	0.146	0.052	0.000	0.370
excessdeath	2,726	0.806	0.744	-1.390	3.250

Constituency Level

 Table B.1: Constituency Level Control Variables

Upper 1 Level

Statistic	Ν	Mean	St. Dev.	Min	Max
sdex2	1,177	55.469	9.242	20.370	81.020
depen_ratio	1,177	0.300	0.063	0.064	0.554
life_expect	$1,\!177$	80.423	2.026	74.400	85.000
gdp_percapita2019	$1,\!177$	49,861.120	16,058.410	18,038.000	$165,\!501.000$
primary_income_percapita2019	$1,\!177$	37,316.330	13,419.540	7,667.000	72,906.120
disposable_income2019	$1,\!177$	33,632.650	12,422.040	13,874.000	66,130.920
tertiary_edu	$1,\!177$	0.394	0.091	0.140	0.680
below_uppersecondary_edu	$1,\!177$	0.133	0.050	0.000	0.370
excessdeath	$1,\!177$	1.031	0.775	-1.390	3.250

Table B.2: Upper 1 Level Control Variables

Upper 2 Level

Table B.3: Upper 2 Level Control Variable

Statistic	Ν	Mean	St. Dev.	Min	Max
sdex2	798	56.185	9.978	20.370	81.020
depen_ratio	798	0.284	0.061	0.064	0.554
life_expect	798	80.194	2.259	74.400	85.000
gdp_percapita2019	798	52,861.760	16,210.910	18,038.000	165,501.000
primary_income_percapita2019	798	41,032.010	14,323.410	7,667.000	72,906.120
disposable_income2019	798	37,500.020	13,243.560	13,874.000	66,130.920
tertiary_edu	798	0.418	0.075	0.140	0.680
below_uppersecondary_edu	798	0.126	0.049	0.000	0.370
excessdeath	798	1.133	0.825	-1.390	3.000

State 1 Level

Statistic	Ν	Mean	St. Dev.	Min	Max
sdev?	228	51 396	14 316	20.370	81 020
depen ratio	228	0.292	0.052	0.064	0 435
life_expect	228	80.951	2.283	74.400	85.000
gdp_percapita2019	228	48,366.030	17,373.210	18,038.000	165,501.000
primary_income_percapita2019	228	32,574.030	12,783.930	7,667.000	72,906.120
disposable_income2019	228	31,447.310	14,725.570	13,874.000	66,130.920
tertiary_edu	228	0.389	0.095	0.140	0.660
below_uppersecondary_edu	228	0.131	0.061	0.000	0.370
excessdeath	228	0.905	0.890	-1.390	3.000

Table B.4: State Level Control Variables